SHARJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC

DIRECTORS’ REPORT AND CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018




7/

= - ———> — ————}
SHARJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC
Directors’ Report

The Directors have pleasure in presenting their report together with the audited consolidated financial
statements of SHARJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC (“the Bank™) and its subsidiaries, together referred to as (“the
Group™) for the year ended 31 December 2018.

Financial Highlights

As at 31 December 2018, total assets of the Bank increased by AED 6.5 billion to reach AED 44.7 billion, an
increase of 16.9%.

Investments in Islamic financing increased by 11.1% (AED 2.4 billion) to reach AED 24.1 billion and customer
deposits increased by 18.5% (AED 4.1 billion) to reach AED 26.4 billion,

Net operating income for the Bank increased by 16.5%, to reach AED 1,087.7 million for 2018 as compared to
AED 933.8 million in 2017,

Impairment provisions (collective and specific) — net of recoveries made in the year 2018 amounts to AED
36.8 million, a decrease of 75.3%.

Net profits of AED 510.4 million is recorded for year ended 31 December 2018 compared to AED 477.7
million for the corresponding prior year, an increase of 6.8%.

Auditors:-

PricewaterhouseCoopers (PWC) were appointed as auditors of the Group for 2018 at the Annual General
Meeting held on 10 February 2018.

—— i
Abdul Rahman Mohammed Nasser Al Owais

Chairman
20 January 2019
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Report on the audit of the consolidated financial staternents

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Sharjah Islamic Bank (the “Bank”) and its subsidiaries (together
“the Group”) as at 31 December 2018, and its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial
Reporting Standards.

What we have audited

The Group’s consolidated financial statements comprise:

= the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2018;
» the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year then ended;

= the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income for the year then
ended;

= the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended:;
= the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

» the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant
accounting policies.

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor's responsihilities for
the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (IESBA Code) and the ethical
requirements that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated financial statements in the United
Arab Emirates. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these
requirements and the IESBA Code.

PricewaterhouseCoopers (Dubai Branch), License no. 102451
Emaar Square, Butlding 4, Level 8, P O Box 11987, Dubai - United Arab Emirates
T: +971 (0)4 304 3100, F: +971 (0)4 346 9150, unvw.prc.com/me

Duuglas O"Mahony, Rami Sarhun, Jacques Fakhoury and Mohtmed ElBurno are regislered a5 practising auditors with the UAE Ministry of Econumy
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Overview

As part of designing our audit, we determined materiality and assessed the risks of material
misstatement in the consolidated financial statements. In particular, we considered where
Directors made subjective judgements; for example, in respect of significant accounting estimates
that involved making assumptions and considering future events that are inherently uncertain.
As in all of our audits, we also addressed the risk of management override of internal controls,
including among other matters, consideration of whether there was evidence of bias that
represented a risk of material misstatement due to fraud,

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance
in our audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in
forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

We tailored the scope of our audit in order to perform sufficient work to enable us to provide an
opinion on the consolidated financial statements as a whole, taking into account the structure of
the Group, the accounting processes and controls, and the industry in which the Group operates.

Key audit matter How our audit addressed the key :_ll.llﬂ'it..

matler

Measurement of Expected Credit Losses

IFRS 9 ‘Financial instruments’ became effective We performed the following andit procedures to assess
from 1 January 2018 and replaced most of the the adequacy of the ECL included in the Group's
guidance in IAS 39 — Financial instruments’. In consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31
particular, the incurred loss impairment model pecember 2018:

under IAS 39 has been replaced with the Expected

Credit Losses model ("ECL"). The Group has . e tested the completeness and accuracy of the data
previously adopted the first phase of the IFRS ¢ used in the caleulation of ECL.
with regards to classification and measurement of

financial instruments. The Group adopted thefinal , po; , sample of exposures, we checked the
phase of IFRS 9 with respect to impairment of appropriateness of the Group’s application of the
financial assets with effect from 1 January 2018. staging criteria.

The adoption of the ECL model under IFRS ¢ has
resulted in an increase in the impairment
provision by AED 295m which hasbeen recognized
as an adjustment to retained earnings at 1 January
2018. On the initial application of IFRS 9, the
Directors have evaluaied and disclosed the
information required by IFRS 7 and IFRS g.

> We involved our internal specialists to assess the
following areas:

¢ Conceptual framework used for developing the
Group’s impairment policy in the context of its
compliance with the requirements of IFRS g.

The Group applies ECL on all the financial
instruments measured at amortised cost, debt
instruments measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income, and financial guarantee
contracts including financing commitments,
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Key audit matters (continued)

key audil matter

How our audit addressed the key audit
analtter '

The Group exercises significant judgements and
makes a number of assumptions in developing its
ECL models, which includes probability of default
computation separately for retail and corporate
portfolios, determining loss given default and
exposure at default for both funded and unfunded
exposures, forward looking adjustments and
staging criteria.

For defaulted exposures, the Group exercises
judgements to estimate the expected future cash
flows related to individual exposures, including
the value of collateral.

The Group’s impairment policy under IFRS g is
presented in Note 4a to the consolidated financial
statements.

Measurement of ECL is considered as a key audit
matter as the Group applies significant judgments
and makes a number of assumptions in the
staging criteria applied to the financial
instruments as well as in developing ECL models
for calculating its impairment provisions,

ECL modelling methodology and calculations
used to compute the probability of default (PD),
loss given default (LGD), and exposure at default
(EAD) for the Group’s classes of financial
instruments.

Reasonableness of the assumptions made in
developing the modelling framework including
assumptions used for estimating forward looking
scenarios and significant increase in credit risk.

For a sample of exposures, we checked the
appropriateness of determining EAD, including
the consideration of repayments and collaterals.

For the Stage 3 portfolio, the appropriateness of
provisioning assumptions were independently
assessed for a sample of exposures selected on the
basis of risk and the significance of individual
exposures. An independent view was formed on the
levels of provisions recognised, based on the
detailed loan and counterparty information
available in the credit files.

We assessed the consolidated financial statement
disclosures to ensure compliance with IFRS 7 and
IFRS 9.
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Independent aditor’s report 1o the sharcholders of Sharjah Islamic Bank and its

subsidiarics (eommued?

Key audit matters (continued)

:Eey audit matter

How our audit addressed the Key audil

‘matter

Fair valuation of Group’s investment properties

The Group’s investment properties are held at a
fair value of AED 2,318m as at 31 December 2018

(Note 9.

The valuation of the Group's investment
properties is inherently subjective due to, among
other factors, the individual nature of each
property, ils location and the expected future
rental income or selling value for that particular
property. Investment properties are initially
recognized at cost and subsequently measured at
fair value.

The valuations were carried out by professional
third party valuation companies. The valuers
were engaged by the Group, and performed their
work in accordance with relevant appraisal and
valuation standards.

In determining a property’s valuation, the valuers
take into account current market prices for
similar properties in a similar location and
condition. If prices for comparable properties are
not available, the valuers make use of appropriate
valuation technigques to arrive at the fair
valuation.

This valuation of investment properties is
considered to be a key audil matter due to the
significant judgements and assumptions made in
determining the fair wvalues of investment
properties.

We evaluated the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of professional third party valuation
firms (the "experts”) engaged for valuing the
investment properties.

We evaluated the appropriateness of the experts'
work by considering the nature and content of the
instructions provided to the experts by the Group.
Where the experts’ work invelved valuation
techniques which needed significant use of source
data provided by the Group's management, the
relevance, completeness and accuracy of that source
data was evaluated.

The relevance and reasonableness of the expert's
findings or conclusions for investment properties
were considered by engaging our own in-house
valuation experts to assess and evaluate the work
performed and assumptions used by the third party
valuation firm.



The Directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises of the
Director’s Report (but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor's
report thereon), which we obtained prior to the date of the auditor’s report, and Chairman'’s
Report, Corporate Governance Report and Finaneial Highlights, which is expected to be made
available to us after that date.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and
we do not express any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read
the other information identified above and, in doing so, consider whether the other information
is materially inconsistent with the consclidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained
in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed on the Director’s report, we conclude that there is a
material misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that fact. We have
nothing to report in this regard.

When we read Chairman’s Report, Corporate Governance Report and Financial Highlights, if we
conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to communicate the
matter to those charged with governance.

Directors are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated finaneial
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and their preparation
in compliance with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, and for such
internal control as the Directors determine is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the Directors are responsible for assessing the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Directors either intend to
liquidate the Group or teo cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting
process.

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial
statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to
issue an auditor’s report that incudes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high leve] of
assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial
statements.



As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain
professional scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

» Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial
statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for
our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher
than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional
omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

« Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit
procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

» Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of
accounting estimates and related disclosures made by the Directors.

= Conclude on the appropriateness of Directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the andit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to
events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the consolidated financial
statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are
based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern,

« Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial
statements, including the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements
represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

= Obtainsufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities
or business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the Group
audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the
planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant
deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audi.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with
relevant ethical requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all
relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those
matters that were of most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the
current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s
report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the
public interest benefits of siuch communication.



Further, as required by the UAE Federal Law No. (2) of 2015, we report on that:
(1) we have obtained all the information we considered necessary for the purpose of our audit;

(2) the consolidated financial statements have been prepared and comply, in all material
respects, with the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal law No. (2) of 2015;

(3) the Group has maintained proper books of account;

(4) the financial information included in the directors’ report is consistent with the books of
account of the Group;

(5) as disclosed in note 17 to the consolidated financial statements, the Group has not purchased
or invested in any shares during the financial year ended 31 December 2018;

(6) note 31 to the consolidated financial statements discloses material related party
transactions, and the terms under which they were conducted;

(7) note 32 to the consolidated financial statement disclosed the social contribution made
during the year ended 31 December 2018.

(8) based on the information that has been made available to us, nothing has come to our
attention that causes us to believe that the Group has contravened during the financial year
ended 31 December 2018 any of the applicable provisions of the UAE Federal law No. (2) of
2015 or in respect of the Group, its Memorandum of and Articles of Association which would
materialty affect its activities of financial position as at 31 December 2018;

Further, as required by Article (114) of the Decretal Federal Law No. {(14) of 2018, we report that
we have obtained all the information and explanations we considered necessary for the purpose
of our audit.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
29 January 2019

N Al

Jacques E. Fakhoury
Registered Auditor Number 379
Dubai, United Arab Emirates
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HARJAH ISLAMIC BANK P
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2018
(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

Notes 2018 2017
Assets
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions 5 2,440,868 3,103,111
Murabaha and wakalah with financial institutions 6 7,217,226 3.925,490
Investments in Islamic financing 7 24,123,760 21,707,375
Investment securities & 6,220,452 5,034,137
Investment properties 9 2,318,129 2,167,763
Properties held-for-sale 10 658,460 568,078
Other assets 1 907,905 923,264
Property and equipment 12 858,687 859,301
Total assets 44,745,487 38,288,519
Liabilities and Shareholders’ equity
Liabilities
Customers' deposits 13 26,438,275 22,318,523
Due to banks 14 6,548,781 4,076,241
Sukuk payable 15 5,499,603 5,501,743
Other liabilities 16 809,607 808,838
Zakat payable 61,589 63,894
Total liabilities 39,357,855 32,769,239
Shareholders® equity
Share capital i7 2,934,855 2,934,855
Legal reserve 20 1,429,264 1,377,902
Statutory reserve 20 89,008 89,008
General impairment reserve 20 66,717 -
Fair value reserve 20 (87,537) (39,488)
Retained eamnings 955,325 1,157,003
Total shareholders’ equity 5,387,632 5,519,280
Total liabilities and shareholders’ equity 44,745,487 38,288,519

These consolidated financial statements were authorised for issue in accordance with a resolution of Directors on 20 January
2019 and signed on its behalf by:

P e \
__.______(
—
Abdul Rahman Mohammed Nasser Al Owais Mohammed Ahmed Abdullah
Chairman Chief Executive Officer

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors™ report is set out on page 2 to 8.
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SHARJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 3] DECEMBER 2018

(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

Notes 2018 2017

Income from investments in Islamic financing 21 1,323,184 1,111,007
Distributions to sukuk holders (183,539) (167,763)
Investment, fees, commission and other income - net 22 534,059 510,731
Income from subsidiaries 28,229 30,585
Total operating income 1,701,933 1,484,560
General and administrative expenses 23 (614,246) (550,745)
Net operating income 1,087,687 933,815
Provisions - net of recoveries 24 (36,769) (148,817)
Profit before distribution to depositors 1,050,918 784,998
Distribution to depositors 25 (540,539) (307,324)
Profit for the year

{(Attributable to the equity holders of the Bank} 510,379 477,674
Earnings per share (U.A.E. Dirham} 26 0.17 0.16

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consclidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report is set out on page 2 to 8.
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SHARJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR L.OSS AND

OTHER COMPERHENSIVE INCOME
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

2018 2017
Profit for the year
(Attributable to the equity holders of the Bank) 510,379 477,674

Other comprehensive loss
Items that will be reclassified to profit or loss
Net change in fair value reserve on sukuk investments classified at FVTOCI (35,209) (1,691)
Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
Net change in fair value reserve on equity investments classified at FVTOCI (13,023) {10,608)
Total comprehensive income for the year

(Attributable to the equity holders of the Bank) 462,147 465,375

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors’ report is set out on page 2 to §.
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SHARJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

Notes 2018 2017
Cash flows from operating activities:
Profit for the year 510,379 477,674
Adjustments:
Depreciation 12 41,694 41,630
Amortisation of sukuk issuance cost 2,140 3,827
Provision on investments in Islamic financing and other financial assets 45,172 153,743
Recoveries on subsidiaries receivables (8,403) (4,926)
Gain on disposal of properties held-for-sale (5,579) (23,450)
Revaluation loss / (gain) on investment properties 9 10,196 (6,284)
Impairment loss on propertics held-for-sale 10 11,901 2,124
Gain on disposal of investment properties (21,552) -
Gain on disposal of property and equipment (209) (214)
Operating profit before changes in operating assets and liabilities 585,739 644,124
Changes in:
Reserve with UAE Central Bank 38,207 {266,316)
Murabaha and wakalah with financial institution (2,235,949) 1,088,054
Investments in Islamic financing (2,756,767) {4,770,115)
Other assets 23,762 (51,205)
Customers’ deposits 4,119,752 3,989,587
Due to banks 2,959,203 359,400
Zakat paid (2,305) {(25,535)
Other liabilities (63,027) (176,047)
Net cash generated from operating activities 2,668,615 791,947
Cash flows from investing activities:
Acquisition of property and equipment (41,149) (49,990}
Disposal of property and equipment 278 542
Acquisition of investment properties (248,046) (32,850)
Disposal of investment properties 109,036 56,406
Acquisition of properties held for sale (114,501) (37,337)
Disposal of properties held for sale 17,797 101,167
Investment securities, net (1,234,547) (939,241)
Net cash used in investing activities (1,511,132) (921,303)
Cash flows from financing activities:
Issuance of sukuk 1,832,220 266,805
Sukuk repayment (1,836,500) -
Cash dividends 18 (234,789) -
Net cash (used in) / generated from financing activities (239,069) 266,805
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 918,414 137,449
Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of the year 27 2,174,874 2,037,425
Cash and cash equivalents, end of the year 27 3,093,288 2,174,874

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors” report is set oul on page 2 to 8.
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SHARJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018

As at 1 January 2017

Total comprehensive income for

the year

Profit for the year

Other comprehensive income

(oC1)

Net change in fair value reserve

Realized loss on financial assets
through QC1 transferred to
retained earnings

Total comprehensive income for the

year

Transactions recorded directly in
equity

[ssuance of bonus shares

Conversion ol sukuk (note 17}

Transfer to legal reserve (hote 20)

Zakal

Board of directors’ fees frote 19)

Touwl transactions with owners

As at 3T December 2017

As at 1 January 2018

(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

Changes on initial application of [FRS 9

(note 3)
Restated balance at 1 January
2018
Total comprehensive income for
the year
Profit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Net change in fair value reserve
Realized loss on financial assets
through OCI transferred 10
retained earnings
Total comprehensive income for the
year
Transactions recorded directly in
equity
Transfer to legal reserves (note 200)
Dividend
Transfer 1o general impairment
reserve
Zakal
Board of directors’ fees (note 19)
Total transactions with owners

As at 31 December 2018

ATTRIBUTABLE TO THE
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE
BANK

Share Legal  Statutory General Fair value  Retained Total
capital reserves reserves  impairment reserve earnings shareholders®
reserve equity

2,425,500 1,330,626 89,008 - (29,492) 1,040,602 4,056,244
- - - - - 477,674 477674

- - - - (12,299) - {12,299)

- - - - 2,303 (2.303) -

- - - - (9,996) 475371 465,375

242,550 - - - - (242,550) -
266,805 - - - - - 266,805

- 47,276 - - (47,276) -

- - - - - (63,894) (63,894)

. - - - - (5,250) (5,250)

509,355 47,276 - - - (358,970) 197,661
2,934,855 1,377,902 89,008 - (39,488) 1,157,003 5,519,280
2,934,855 1,377,902 89,008 - (39,488) 1,157,003 5,519,280
- - - - - (295.211) (295,211)
2,934,855 1,377,902 89,008 - (39,488) 861,792 5,224,069
- - - - - 510,379 510,379

] . ; ; (48,232) - (48,232)

. - - - 183 (183) =

- - - - (48,049) 510,196 462,147

- 51,362 - - - (51,362) -

- - - - - (234,789) {234,789)

66,717 - (66,717)

- - - - - (58,545) (58,545)

- - - - - (5,250} (5,250

- 51,362 - 66,717 - (416,663) (298,584)
2,934,855 1,429,264 89,008 66,717 (87,537) 955325 5,387,632

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
The independent auditors” report is set out on page 2 to §.
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SHARJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2018
(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

1. Legal status and activities

SHARIJAH ISLAMIC BANK PJSC (“the Bank™) was incorperated in 1975 as a public joint stock company by an Emiri
Decree issued by His Highness the Ruler of Sharjah, United Arab Emirates and is listed on the Abu Dhabi stock market.

At the extraordinary shareholders® meeting held on 18 March 2001 a resolution was passed (o transform the Bank’s activities
to be in full compliance with the Islamic Shari‘a rules and principles. The entire process was completed on 30 June 2002
{“the transformation date™). As aresult the Bank transformed its conventional banking products into Islamic banking products
during the 6-month period ended 30 June 2002 after negotiation and agreement with its customers.

The Bank is mainly engaged in corporate, retail and investment banking activities in accordance with its articles of
incorporation. Islamic Shari’a principles and regulation of the Central Bank of UAE (“the CBUAE™), which ar¢ carried out
through its 33 branches (2017 : 32 branches) established in United Arab Emirates.

The consolidated financial statements of the Group comprises the Bank and its fully owned subsidiaries incorporated in the
United Arab Emirates, Sharjah National Hotels (SNH), Sharjah Islamic Financial Services LLC (SIFS), ASAS Real Estate
and SIB Sukuk Company III Limited, a special purpose vehicle established in the Cayman Islands, (all together referred to
as “the Group™). SNH through its divisions is engaged in operating hotels and resorts, catering and related services, whereas
SIFS is involved in conducting intermediation in dealing in local market Shari’a compliant shares. ASAS is involved in the
business of real estate and SIB Sukuk Company III Limited was established for the Bank’s Sukuk program.

The registered address of the Bank is Post Box No.4, Sharjah, United Arab Emirates.
2. Basis of preparation

a. Statement of compliance

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting standards
(“IFRS8"} as issued by International Accounting Standard Board (“IASB™), and comply with the guidance of the CBUAE,
Islamic Shari’a principles and applicable requirements of the UAE Federal law No. 2 of 2015.

b. Basis of measurement

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis except for the following that are
measured at fair value:

i}  financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL);
ii) financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI); and
iii) investment properties

¢. Functional and presentation currency

These consolidated financial statements of the Group are presented in UAE Dirham (AED), which is the Group’s functional
and presentation currency, rounded to the nearest thousand.

d. Use of estimates and judgments

In preparing these consolidated financial statements, management has made judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect
the application of the Group's accounting policies and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses, Actual
results may differ from these estimates.
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(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

2, Basis of preparation (continued)
d. Use of estimates and judgments {continued}

Estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to estimates are recongnised
prospectively. In particular, these estimates and judgments relale to;

- impairment losses on investments in Islamic financing (refer note 7 & 28);

- amortised cost investments (refer note § & 28);

- net realizable value of held for sale properties (refer note 10 & 28);

- valuation of unquoted investment securities and impairment losses on investment securities {refer note 8); and
- investment properties (refer note ¢ & 28).

Information about estimates and judgements made in applying accounting policies that have the most significant effects on
the amounts recognised in the consolidated financial statements is included in the note 4(ii)(a); where establishing the criteria
for determining whether credit risk on the financial asset has increased significantly since initial recognition, determining
methodology for incorporating forward-looking information into measurement of expected credit loss (ECL) and selection
and approval of models used to measure ECL is detailed.

3. Summary of significant accounting policies

The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented in these consolidated financial
statements, except for the mandatory adoption of new accounting standards stated in note 3(x). The significant accounting
policies adopted in preparation of these consolidated financial statements are as follows:

a. Basis of consolidation

These consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial statements of the Bank and entities controlled by the Bank.
Control is achieved when the Bank has:

- power over the investee;
- exposure, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee; and
- the ability to use its power over the investee to affect its returns,

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

i) Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries’ are entities controlled by the Bank. The Bank ‘controls” an entity when it is exposed to, or has rights to, variable
returns from its involvement with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. The
financial statements of subsidiaries are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date on which control
commences until the date when control ceases. Specifically, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of
during the year are included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss from the date the Bank gains control until the date
when the Bank ceases to control the subsidiary.

ii) Lioss of control

When the Bank losses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the assets and liabilities of the subsidiary, and any related
non-controlling interest (NCI) and other components of equity. Any resulting gain or loss is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss. Any interest retained in the former subsidiary is measured at fair value when control is lost.

iii) Transactions eliminated on consolidation

Intra-group balances and transactions, and any unrealised income and expenses arising from intra-group (ransactions, are
eliminated in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised losses are eliminated in the same way as unrealised
gains, but only to the extent that there is no evidence of impairment.

-
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

a. Basis of consolidation (continued)
iv) Special purpose entities

Special purpose entities are entities that are created to accomplish a narrow and well-defined objective such as the Islamic
securitization of particular assets, or the execution of a specific financing transaction. Special purpose entities are included
in the Group’s consclidated financial statement where the substance of the relationship is that the Bank controls the special

purpose entity.
b. Non-derivative financial instruments

A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to both a financial asset for the Group and a financial liability or equity
instrument for another party or vice versa.

i. Classification and measurement of financial assets
The Group classifies its financial assets at initial recognition in the following categories:
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (FVTPL)

Investments in equity instruments are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss, unless the Group
designates them as an investment that is not held for trading and are accordingly carried at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVTOCI).

A financial asset is held for irading if:

e it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling it in the near term; or
s on initial recognition it is part of a portfolio of identified financial instruments that the Group manages together
and has evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit-taking.

Financial assets that do not meet the amortised cost criteria are measured at FVTPL or FVOCI, In addition, financial assets
that meet the amortised cost criteria but are designated as at FVTPL are measured at FVTPL. Financial assets may be
designated as at FVTPL upon initial recognition if such designation eliminates or significantly reduces a measurement or
recognition inconsistency that would arise from measuring assets or liabilities or recognizing the gains and losses on them
on different basis.

Financial assets are initially recognised and subsequently measured at fair value, with any gains or losses arising in re-
measurement recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. All directly atiributable costs are charged to
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Dividend income on investments in equity instruments at FVTPL or FVQCI is recognised in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss when Group’s right to receive is established.

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI)

At initial recognition, the Group can make an irrevocable election (on instrument by instrument basis) to designate equity
investments under the classification of FVTOCI. Designation at FVTOCI is not permitted if the equity investment is held
for trading, A sukuk is measured at FVOCI only if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at
FVTPL:

i. the asset is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and
selling financial assets; and

ii.  the contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and profit (“SPPP™) on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets measured at FVTOCI are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at fair value with gains and losses arising from changes in fair value recognised in other comprehensive income.

/@ﬂ
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
b. Non-derivative financial instruments (continued)

i. Classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVTOCI) (continued)

Dividends on equity investments are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when Group’s right to receive
is established.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

A financial asset shall be measured at amortised cost if both of the following conditions are met:

o  The asset is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets in order to collect contractual cash flows;
and

® The contractual terms of the financial asset give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of
principal and profit on the principal amount cutstanding,

The effective profit rate method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of those financial instruments measured at
amortised cost and of allocating income over the relevant period. The effective profit rate is the rate that is used to calculate
the present value of the estimated future cash receipts (including all fees and points paid or received that form an integral
part of the effective profit rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the financing
and investing instruments, or, where appropriate, a shorter period, to arrive at the net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Financial assets measured at amortised cost are initially measured at fair value plus transaction costs. Subsequently, they are
measured at amortised cost using their effective yield less any impairment.

Income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss on an effective profit rate basis for financing and investing
instruments measured subsequently at amortised cost.

Subsequent to the initial recognition, the Group is required to reclassify investments from amortised cost to FVTPL or
FVOCI, if the objective of the business mode] changes so that the amortised cost criteria is no longer met.

Business model assessment

The Group makes an assessment of the objective of a business model in which an asset is held at a portfolio level because
this best reflects the way the business is managed and information is provided to management. The information considered
includes:

» the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice, In particular,
whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual profit revenue, maintaining a particular profit rate
profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of the liabilities that are supporting those assets
or realising cash flows through the sale of the assets;

¢ how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Group’s management;

e the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business model)
and its strategy for how those risks are managed;

¢  how managers of the business are compensated {e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the assets
managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and

* the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and its expectations about
future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an overall
assessment of how the Group's stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how cash flows
are realised.

Financial assets that are held for trading or managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis are measured
at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect contractual cash flows and
to sell financial assets.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
b. Non-derivative financial instruments (continued)

i. Classification and measurement of financial assets (continued)
Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are” solely payments of principal and profit (SPPP)"

For the purposes of this assessment, *principal’ is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition. *Profit’
is defined as consideration for the time value of money and for the credit risk associated with the principal amount
outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk and administrative
costs), as well as profit margin.

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPP, the Group considers the contractual terms of the instrument. This
includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the timing or amount of
contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making the assessment, the Group considers:

e conlingent events that would change the amount and timing of cash flows;

» leverage features;

e prepayment and extension terms;

e terms that limit the Group’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse financing); and
e features that modify consideration of the time value of money (e.g. periodical reset of profit rates).

The Bank does hold a portfolio of long-term fixed-rate financing for which the Group has the option to propose to revise the
profit rate at periodic reset dates. These reset rights are limited to the market rate at the time of revision. The customers have
an option to either accept the revised rate or redeem the financing at par without penaity. The Group has determined that the
contractual cash flows of these financings are SPPP because the option varies the profit rate in a way that is consideration
for the time value of money, credit risk, other basic financing risks and costs associated with the principal amount
outstanding.

Following terminologies for financial assets, classified under each of the financial instrument classification mentioned above,
have been used in preparation of these consolidated financial statements:

Murabaha is an agreement for sale of commodities purchased by the Group based on the promise of the customer to buy the
commodities on a cost plus the agreed profit basis.

Istisna’a is a sale contract between two parties whereby the Group underiakes to construct, for its customer, a specific asset
or property according to certain pre-agreed specifications to be delivered during a pre-agreed period of time in consideration
of a pre-determined price, which comprises the cost of construction and a profit amount.

Wakala is an agency or a delegated authority where the muwakkil (principal) appoints the wakil (agent} to carry out a
specific job on behalf of the muwakkil.

Musharaka is an agreement between the Group and its customer, whereby both parties contribute towards the capital of the
Musharaka (the “Musharaka Capital™). The subject of the Musharaka may be a certain investment enterprise, whether
existing or new, or the ownership of a certain property either permanently or according to a diminishing arrangement ending
up with the acquisition by the customer of the full ownership. The profit is shared according to a pre-agreed profit distribution
ratio as stipulated under the Musharaka agreement.

Sukuks are asset backed Sharia’a compliant trust certificates.

Qard Hasan receivables are non-profit bearing financing receivables whereby the customer borrows funds for a period of
time with an understanding that the same amount shall be repaid at the end of the agreed peried.

Ijarah is classified as a finance lease, when the Group transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incident to an
ownership of the ljarah receivable to the lessee. ljarah receivable represent finance lease of assets for periods, which either
approximale or cover a major part of the estimated useful lives of such assets. The lease agreements provide that the lessor
undertakes to transfer the leased property to the lessee upon receiving the final rental payment or the agreed price. ljarah
receivables are stated at amounts equal to the net investment outstanding in the leases including the income eamed thereon
less impairment provisions.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued}
b. Non-derivative financial instruments {continued)
ii. Classification and measurement of financial liabilities

The Group has classified all its financial liabilities at amortised cost. These include customer deposits, due to banks, sukuk
payable, other liabilities, excepl zakat payable,

All financial assets and liabilities are recognised when a Group becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument
i.e. trade date (including regular way purchase and sale of financial assets).

iii. Derecognition of financial instruments
Financial assets

The Group derecognises financial assets when the contractual right to the cash flows from the financial assets expires, or
when it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows on the financial assets in a transaction in which substantially
all the risk and rewards of the ownership of the financial assets are transferred or in which the Group neither transfers nor
retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount of the asset and the consideration received
is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, except for equity instruments designated at fair value through
OCI.

Any cumulative gain/loss recognised in OCI in respect of equity investment securities designated as at FVOCI is not
recognised in profit or loss on derecognition of such securities. Gains and losses on sukuks recognised in OCI are reclassified
to profit and loss upon derecognition.

Financial liabilities

The Group derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations are discharged, cancelled or expired. The
difference between the carrying value of the original financial liability and the consideration paid is recognised in
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

iv. Fair value measurement principles

‘Fair value’ is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction belween
market participants at the measurement date in the principal or, in its absence, the most advantageous market to which the
Group has access at that date. The fair value of a liability reflects its non-performance risk.

When available, the Group measures the fair value of an instrument using the quoted price in an active market for that
instrumnent. A market is regarded as active if transactions for the asset or liability take place with sufficient frequency and
volume to provide pricing information on an ongoing basis.

The best evidence of the fair value of a financial instrument at initial recognition is normally the transaction price — i.e. the
fair value of the consideration given or received.

If there is no quoted price in an aclive market, then the Group uses valuation technique that maximises the use of relevant
observable inputs and minimise the use of unobservable inputs.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
h. Non-derivative financial instruments (continued)
iv. Fair value measurement principles (continued,

If an asset or a liability measured at fair value has a bid price and an ask price, then the Group measures assets and long
positions at a bid price and liabilities and short positions at an ask price.

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy as of the end of the reporting period during which
the change has occurred.

Investments in unlisted funds and securities are fair vaiued intemally by using valuation techniques. Where valuation
techniques {such as models) are used to determine fair values these models are tested before they are used and are calibrated
to ensure that outputs reflect actual data and comparative mode! prices.

v. Offsetting

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position when, and
only when, the Group currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends either to settle them on a net
basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when permitted under [FRS, or for gains and losses arising from a group
of similar transactions such as in the Group’s trading activity.

vi. Impairment of financial assets
Policy after 1 January 2018

The IFRS 9 expected credit loss model is forward-looking compared to the 1AS 39 incurred loss approach. Expected credit losses
reflect the present value of all cash shortfalls related to default events either:

i.  Over the following twelve months, or

ii. Over the expected life of a financial instrument depending on credit migration from inception. Expected credit loss
(ECL) should reflect an unbiased, probability-weighted outcome as opposed to the single best estimate allowed under
the current approach. The probability-weighted outcome considers multiple scenarios based on reasonable forecasts.

IFRS 9 considers the calculation of ECL by multiplying the Probability of default (PD), Loss Given Default (LGD) and Exposure
at Default (EAD). The Group has developed new methodologies and models taking into account the relative size, quality and

complexity of the portfolios.
IFRS 9 Impairment model uses a three stage approach based on the extent of credit deterioration since origination:

Stage 1 ~ 12-month ECL applies to all financial assets that have not experienced a significant increase in credit risk (SICR) since
origination and are not credit impaired. The ECL will be computed using a 12-month PD that represents the probability of default
occurring over the next 12 months. For those assets with a remaining maturity of less than 12 months, a PD is used that
corresponds to the remaining maturity. This Stage | approach is different to the current approach which estimates a collective
allowance to recognize losses that have been incurred but not reported on performing Islamic financing.

Stage 2 ~ When a financial asset experiences a SICR subsequent to origination but is not credit impaired, it is considered to be
in Stage 2. This requires the computation of ECL based on a lifetime PD that represents the probability of default oceurring over
the remaining estimated life of the financial asset. Provisions are higher in this stage because of an increase in risk and the impact
of a longer time horizon being considered compared to 12 months in Stage 1.

Stage 3 — Financial assets that have objective evidence of impairment will be included in this stage. Similar to Stage 2, the
allowance for credit losses will continue to capture the lifetime expected credit losses.

Some of the key concepts in [FRS 9 that have the most significant impact and require a high level of judgement are:
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
b. Non-derivative financial instruments {continued)

vi. Impairment of financial assets {continued}
Assessment of significant increase in credit risk

Under [FRS 9, when determining whether the credit risk (i.e., risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased
significantly since the initial recognition, the Group will consider reasonable and supportable information that is relevant
and available without undue cost or effort, including both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis based on the
Group’s historical experience, expert credit assessment and forward-looking information,.

The Group will primarily identify whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by comparing:

i, the remaining lifetime PD as at the reporting date; with
ii.  the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated on initial recognition of the exposure.

At each reporting date, the assessment of a change in credit risk will be assessed for those considered individually significant.
This assessment is symmetrical in nature, allowing credit risk of financial assets to move back to stage 2 from stage 3 or
from stage 2 to stage 1, if the increase in credit risk since origination has reduced and is no longer deemed significant, subject
to the guidelines as specified by the Central Bank of UAE (CBUAE).

Macroeconomic factors, forward looking information (FLI) and multiple scenarios

IFRS 9 requires an unbiased and probability weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of possible outcomes
that incorporates forecasts of future economic conditions.

Macroeconomic factors and FLI are required to be incorporated into the measurement of ECL as well as the determination
of whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk since origination. Measurement of ECLs at each reporting
period should reflect reasonable and supportable information at the reporting date about past events, current conditions and
forecasts of future economic conditions. Based on advice from the Risk management department and external economic
experts and consideration of a variety of external actual and forecast information, the Group has formulated a 'base case'
view of the future direction of relevant economic variables as well as a representative range of other possible forecast
scenarios, which shall in turn be probability weighted to determine ECL.

Expected life

When measuring ECL, the Group must consider the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit
risk. All contractual terms should be considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment options, extension
and rollover options. For credit cards that do not have a fixed maturity, the expected life is estimated based on the period
over which the Group is exposed to credit risk and where the credit losses would not be mitigated by management actions.

Experienced credit judgment

The Bank’s ECL allowance methodology, requires the Group to use its experienced credit judgement to incorporate the
estimated impact of factors not captured in the modelled ECL results, in all reporting periods.

Definition of default and write-off

Default definition followed by the Bank for the impairment assessment remains in line with the guidelines of [FRS 9 and
CBUAE, without any recourse to the assumptions. Inputs and assumplions into the assessment of whether a financial
instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to reflect changes in circumstances.

Financial assets are written off only in circumstances where all reasonable restructuring and collecting activities have been
exhausted.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
b. Non-derivative financial instruments (continued)

vi. Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Modified financial assets

The contractual terms of investment in Islamic financing may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing
market conditions, customer retention and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the
customer. An existing investment in [slamic financing whose terms have been modified may be derecognized and the
renegotiated investment in Islamic financing recognized as a new financing at fair value.

If the expected modifications do not result in the derecognition of the existing asset, then the expecled cash flows arising
from the modified financial asset are included in calculating the cash shortfalls from the existing asset.

Policy before 1 January 2018

Financial assets classified at amortised cost are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is objective
evidence of impairment for specific assets, or a group of similar assets. A financial asset or group of financial assets are
impaired when objective evidence demonstrates that a loss event has occurred after the initial recognition of the asset and
that the loss event has an impact on the future cash flows relating to the asset that can be reliably measured. [f any such
indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of specific assets or a group of similar
assets is calculated as the present value of the expected future cash flows.

Movement in provisions is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss. Financial assets are written off only in
circumstances where all reasonable restructuring and collecting activities have been exhausted.

Impairment of financing and Ijara receivables, measured at amortised cost, is assessed by the Group as follows:

Individually assessed financing receivables and ijara financing

Financing and ijara receivables are individually assessed as to whether there exists any objective evidence of impairment.
These assets are classified as impaired as soon as there is doubt about the customer’s ability to meet payment obligations to
the Group in accordance with the original contractual terms.

The amount of the impairment ioss recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss is the difference between the
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows reflecting the amount of collateral, calculated
using the financial asset’s original effective profit rate.

Collectively assessed financing receivables and ijara financing

Impairment is determined on a collective basis for two different scenarios:

e for financing subject to individual assessment to cover losses which have been incurred but have not yet been
identified;
+ for homogeneous groups of financing that are not considered individually significant.

In assessing collective impairment the Group uses statistical modeling of historical trends of the probability of default, the
timing of recoveries and the amount of loss incurred, adjusted for management's judgment as to whether current economic
and credit conditions are such that the actual losses are likely to be greater or less than suggested by historical trends. Default
rates, loss rates and the expected timing of future recoveries are regularly benchmarked against actual outcomes to ensure
that they remain appropriate.

When a financing and ijara receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the related allowance for impairment. Such
financing receivable are written off after all the necessary procedures have been completed and the amount of the loss has
been determined. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off and/or any event resulting in a reduction in
impairment loss, decreases the amount of the provision for impairment in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

P
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

b. Non-derivative financial instruments (continued)

vi. Impairment of financial assets (continued)

Policy before 1 January 2018 (continued)

Collectively assessed financing receivables and ijara financing (continued)

Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and reflected in an allowance account against
financing and l[jara receivables. Profit on impaired assets continues to be recognised through the unwinding of the discount.
When a subsequent event causes the amount of impairment loss to decrease, the decrease in impairment loss is reversed
through the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

¢. Investment properties

Properties held for rental or capital appreciation are classified as investment properties. Investment properties are initially
stated at cost and subsequently measured at fair value, determined at least annually by an independent professional valuer.
Any gain or loss arising from a change in fair value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use
and no future economic benefits are expected from the disposal, Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the property
(calculated as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss in the period in which the property is derecognised.

Transfers to and from investment properties are made when and only when there is change in use, evidenced by either starting
or ending of owner-occupation, commencement or cessation of an operating lease to another party or commencement or
cessation of construction or a development plan.

d. Properties held-for-sale

Properties acquired or constructed with the intention of sale are classified as properties held for sale. Properties held for sale
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Net realisable value represents the estimated selling price for properties
less all estimated costs of completion and costs necessary to make the sale.

Cost includes the cost of land, infrastructure, construction and other related expenditure such as professional fees and
engineering costs attributable to the project, which are capitalised as and when the activities that are necessary to get the
assets ready for the intended use are in progress.

Transfer to and from held-for-sale properties is in case of change in use.

€. Property and equipment

Property and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and impairment loss, if any. Except for freehold
land, property and equipment are depreciated on a straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives, using annual rates of
5% to 33% depending on the type of asset involved.

f. Intangibles

Software acquired by the Group is measured at cost less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses.
Subsequent expenditure on intangible asset is capilalised only when it increases the future economic benefits embodied in
the specific asset 1o which it relates. All other expenditure is expensed as incurred.

Software is amortised on a straight-line basis to consolidated statement of profit or loss over its estimated useful life, from
the date on which it is available for use. The estimated useful life of software for the cwrrent and comparative periods is
SEVen years.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
g. Other assets

Other assets include profit and other receivables which are stated at amortised cost net of provision for impairment, if any.

h. Impairment of non-financial assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s non-financial assets, other than investment properties are reviewed at each reporting
date to determine whether there is any indication of impairment. It any such indication exists, then the assel’s recoverable
amount is estimated. The recoverable amount of a non-financial asset is the greater of its value in use and its fair value less
cost to sell. The reduction in value is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that assets carrying amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would
have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment loss had been recognised.

i. Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of ordinary shares are recognised
as a deduction from equity.

j- Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and balances with the CBUAE (excluding statutory reserves), nostro balances with
other banks and financial institutions, international murabaha and wakalah arrangements, due to banks and other highly
liquid assets with original maturities of less than three months from the date of acquisition, and are used by the Group in the
management of its short term commitments.

k. Other liabilities

These include financial liabilities and other payables. Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition.
Fair value is determined by discounting the present value of expected future payments at the discount rate that reflects current
market assessment of the time value of money for a liability of equivalent average duration.

Subsequent to initial recognition these financial liabilities are stated at amortised cost using the effective yield method.

Other payables are stated at cost and are recognised for amounts to be paid in the future for goods or services received,
whether or not billed.

I.  Acceptances

Acceptances are recognised as financial liability in the consolidated statement of financial position with a4 contractual right
of reimbursement from the customer as a financial asset. Therefore, commitments in respect of acceptances have been

accounted for as financial assets and financial liabilities.

m. Provision

A provision is recognised as a result of a past event, the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation that can be
estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required Lo settle the obligation. Provisions
are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a rate that reflects current market assessments of the time
value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability.

n. Zakat

Zakat is computed in accordance with the Bank’s Articles of Association and is approved by the Bank's Fatwa and Shari‘a
Supervisory Board. Zakat is calculated at 2.577% (to account for the difference between the Gregorian and Lunar calendar)
on the Bank’s reserves, retained earnings and provision lor staft end of service benefits at the year end and it is the Bank's
shareholders responsibility 1o pay the Zakat on their respective share in the Bank’s capital and the distributed cash dividends.

e
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

o. Financial guarantees and financial commitments

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss that
it incurs because a specified customer fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument.
Financial commitments are firm commitments to provide credit under pre-specified terms and conditions.

Liabilities arising from financial guarantees or commitments to provide a financing at a below-market profit rate are initially
measured at fair value and the initial fair value is amortised over the life of the guarantee or the commitment. The liability is
subsequently carried at the higher of this amortised amount and the present value of any expected payment to seftle the
liability when a payment under the contract has become probable. Financial guarantees and commitments to provide a
financing at a helow-market profit rate are included within other liabilities.

p- Revenue recognition

Murabaha

The profit on Murabaha is quantifiable and contractually determined at the commencement of the contract; profit is
recognised as it accrues over the period of the contract on an effective yield basis.

fjarah

Income from ljarah receivable is recognised on an accrual basis on an effective yield basis.

Fees and commissions

Fees and commissions income relating to underwriting and financing activities is recognised as the related service is
performed. Fees and commission income and expense that are integral to the effective profit rate on 2 financial asset or
financial liability are included in the measurement of the effective profit rate,

Fee and commission income from contracts with customers is measured based on the consideration specified in a contract
with a customer. The Group recognises revenue when it transfers control over a service to a customer.

The following table provides information about the nature and timing of the satisfaction of performance obligations in
contracts with customers, including significant payment terms, and the related revenue recognition policies.

Type of service Nature and timing of satisfaction of Revenue recognition under IFRS 15
performance obligations, including (applicable from 1 January 2018)
significant payment terms

Retail and corporate banking The Group provides banking services to retail  Revenue from account service and

services and corporate customers including trade servicing fees is recognised over time
finance, account management, foreign as the services are provided. Revenue
currency transactions, credit cards and related to transactions is recognised at
servicing fees (e.g. documentation and the point in time when the transaction
processing fee). takes place. The premium received on

trade finance aclivities is recognised in
Fees for ongoing account management are the consolidated statement of profit or
charged to the customer’s account on a loss on a straight-line basis over the life
monthly basis. The Group sets the rates of the puarantees and letters of credit.
separately for retail and corporate banking
customers in each jurisdiction on an annual
basis.

Transaction-based fees for interchange,
foreign currency (ransactions are charged to
the customer’s account when the transaction
takes place. Servicing fees are charged on a
monthly basis and are based on fixed rates
reviewed annually by the Group.
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3. Summary ol significant accounting policies (continued)

p. Revenue recognition (continued)

Investment related activites

The Group's investment segment provides
various finance-related services, including
finance administration and agency services,
administration of a finance syndication,
execution of client transactions with exchanges
and securities underwriting.

Fees for ongoing services are charged annually
at the end of the calendar year to the
customer’s account. However, if a customer
terminates the contract before 31 December,

(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

Revenue from administrative agency
services is recognised over time as the
services are provided. The amounts to
be collected from customers on 31
December are recognised as trade
receivables.

Revenue related to transactions is
recognised at the point in time when the
performance obligation has been
fulfilled.

then on termination it is charged the fee for the
services performed to date.

Transaction-based fees for administration of a
finance syndication, execution of transactions,

and securities underwriting are charged when
the performance obligation has been fulfilled.

Renrtal income

Rental income from investment properties is recognised in profit and loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the leases.

Dividend income

Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss when the Group's right (o receive income is
established. Usually this is the ex-dividend date for equity securities.

Income from subsidiaries

Income from subsidiaries includes revenue from provision of accommodation, food, beverages and brokerage commission
relating to the services provided by the subsidiaries.

Revenue from provision of accommodation, food, beverages and other services is recognised on an accrual basis as the
services are rendered.

Commissions are accounted for on the completion of the brokerage deal.
Revenue from sale of properties

Revenue from the saie of properties is recognised when the properties are delivered and titles have passed, at which time all
the following conditions are satisfied:

e the Group has transferred to the buyer the significant risks and rewards of ownership of the properties;
»  the amount of revenue can be measured reliably;

® it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Group; and

e the costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured reliably.

Cost of property includes the cost of land and development costs. Development costs include the cost of infrastructure and
construction. The cost of apartments is based on the estimated proportion of the development cost incurred to date to the
estimated total development costs for each project.

&j%
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
q. Provision for end-of-service benefits

Pension and national insurance contributions for the U.A.E. citizens are made by the Group in accordance with Federal Law
No. 2 of 2000,

Provision is made for the employees’ end of service indemnitly in accordance with the UAE labour law for their periods of
service up to the reporting date in accordance with the UAE Labour Law. The liability for employees end of service benefits
is recognised in the consolidated statement of financial position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation at the end of the reporting period and is calculated annually using the projected unit
credit method in accordance 1AS 19. The present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting the
estimated future cash outflows using profit rates on high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the currency in
which the benefits will be paid, and that have terms lo maturily approximating to the terms of the related pension
obligationwith.

r. Due to banks

Amounts due to banks are initially recognised at the fair value of the consideration received, and are subsequently measured
at amortised cost using the effective profit method.

s. Customers’ deposits

The Bank accepts customer savings and time deposits on a Mudaraba and Wakala basis, whereas current and other similar
in nature deposits are accepted on a Qard Hassan (profit free finance) basis.

Islamic customers’ deposits are initially measured at fair value which is normally consideration received net of directly
attributable transaction costs incurred, and subsequently measured at their amortised cost using the effective profit method.

Distribution to depositors for Mudaraba deposits are calculated in accordance to the Group’s standard procedures and are
approved by the Group's Sharia’h Supervisory Board.

t. General impairment reserve

The General impairment reserve is maintained in accordance with the guidelines of the CBUAE as issued in March 2018.
The general impairment reserve is calculated as a difference between 1.5% of total credit risk weighted assets and ECL (stage
1 and 2). If the general impairment allowance as per the CBUAE requirement is greater than ECL (stage 1 and 2), the
difference is transferred to general impairment reserve as an appropriation from the retained eamnings.

At each subsequent reporting date, the peneral impairment reserve is recomputed and any resultant difference is either
released to retained eamnings or transferred from retained earnings to arrive at 1.5% of credit risk weighted assets, together
with general impairment reserve and ECL (stage 1 and 2). No general impairment reserve is required to be maintained in
case ECL (stage | and 2) is greater than 1.5% of credit risk weighted assets.

u. Translation of foreign currencies

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated into the respective functional currency of Group entities at the spot exchange
rates at the date of the transactions.

Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies at the reporting date are translated into the functional
currency at the spot exchange rate at that date. The foreign currency gain or loss on monetary items is the difference between
the amortised cost in the functional currency at the beginning of the year, adjusted for effective profit and payments during
the year, and the amortised cost in the foreign currency translated at the spot exchange rate at the end of the year.

Non-monetary assets and liabililies that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated into the functional
currency at the spot exchange rate at the date on which the fair value is determined. Non-monetary items that are measured
based on historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the spot exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Foreign
currency differences arising on translation are generally recognised in consolidated statement of profit or loss, other than
investments classified as FVQCI, where the exchange translation is recognised in other comprehensive income.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
v. Earnings per share

The Group presents basic and diluted earnings per share (EPS} data for its ordinary share. Basic EPS is calculated by dividing
the profit or losses attributable to ordinary shareholders of the Bank by the weighted average number of ordinary share
outstanding during the year. Diluted EPS is determined by adjusting the profit and loss atiributable to ordinary shareholders
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares outstanding for the effects of all dilutive potential ordinary shares, if
any.

w, Segment reporting

Income and expenses directly associated with each segment, as well as those that can be reasonably associated on a
reasonable basis, are included in determining business segment performance. Operating segments are reported in a manner
consistent with the internal reporting provided to the chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker is
a person or group of persons that allocates resources and assesses the performance of the operating segments of an entity.
The Group has determined the Group’s management Committee as its chief operating decision maker. All transactions
between business segments are conducted on an arm’s length basis.

Xx. Standards and interpretation adopted for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 2018

Except for the new significant policies as applicable from 1 January 2018, the Group has consistently applied the accounting
policies to all periods presented in these consolidated financial statements,

Changes in accounting policies

The Group has adopted the following new standards and amendments to standards, including any consequential amendments
to other standards, with a date of initial application of 1 January 2018. The Group has initially adopted IFRS 9 (see A) and
IFRS 15 (see B) from 1 January 2018.

Due to the transition method chosen by the Group in applying IFRS 9, comparative information throughout these financial
statements has not generally been restated to reflect its requirements,

The Bank has recorded an adjustment of AED 295.2 million to its opening retained earnings on 1 January, 2018, to reflect
the application of the new requirements of impairment at the adoption date and has not restated comparative periods.

The adoption of [FRS 15 did not impact the timing or amount of fee and commission income from contracts with customers
and the related assets and liabilities recognised by the Group.

Except for the changes below, the Group has consistently applied the accounting policies to all periods presented in these
consolidated financial statements.

A number of other new standards are also effective from 1 January 2018 but they do not have a material effect on the Group’s
financial statements.

IFRS 9 Financial Instruments

The Group had early adopted IFRS 9- Classification and Measurement requirements in the previous years. IFRS 9 sets out
requirements for recognising and measuring financial assets, financial ljabilities and some contracts to buy or sell non-
financial items. The requirements of IFRS 9 represent a significant change from IAS 39. The new standard brings
fundamental changes to the accounting for financial assets and to certain aspects of the accounting for financial liabilities.

Additionally, the Group has adopted consequential amendments to [FRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures that are
applied to disclosures about 2018, but have not been applied to the comparative information.

The key changes to the Group’s accounting policies resulling from its adoption of IFRS 9 are summarized in note 3b{vi).
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Changes in accounting policies (continued)
A IFRS 9 Financial Instruments (continued)

I. Reconciliation of impairment allowance balance from IAS 39 to IFRS 9

(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

The following table reconciles the prior period’s closing impairment allowance measured in accordance with the JAS 39
incurred loss model. Provision to the new impairment allowance measured in accordance with the IFRS 9 expected loss

model at 1 January 2018:

Impairment Impairment
atlowance under 1AS Re-  allowance under
39  measurements IFRS 9
Cash and balances with banks and financial
institutions - 1 1
Murabaha and wakalah with financial institutions - 413 413
Investrments in Islamic financing 1,139,881 283,943 1,423,824
Investment securities measured at amortised cost 19,205 12,345 32,050
Other assets (excluding non-financial assets) 56,034 (6,313) 49,721
LCs and LGs (off-balance sheet) - 4,322 4,322
1,215,120 295,211 1,510,331
II.  Adjustment to retained earnings
The impact of the adoption of IFRS 9 as at 1 January 2018 has been to decrease retained earnings as follows:

Retained
earnings
Closing balance under IAS 39 as at 31 December 2017 1,157,003

Impact on recognition of expected credit losses
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions (1)
Murabaha and wakalah with financial institutions (413)
Investmenis in Islamic financing (283,943)
Investment securities measured at amortised cost (12,845)
Other assets (excluding non-financial assets) 6,313
LCs and LGs {off-balance sheet) (4,322)
Opening balance under [FRS 9 on date of initial application of 1 January 2018 861,792

B.

IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers

IFRS 15 establishes a2 comprehensive framework for determining whether, how much and when revenue is recognised. It
replaced IAS 18 Revenue, IAS 11 Construction Contracts and related interpretations.

The Group applied IFRS 15 on 1 January 2018 retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 without any praclical expedients.
The timing or amount of the Group®s any of the income strearns were not impacted by the adoption of IFRS 13.
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
y. Standards and interpretation issued and not yet effective for accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2018

A number of new standards and amendments to standards are effective for annual periods beginning after 1 January 2018
and earlier application is permitted; however, the Group has not early adopted them in preparing these consolidated financial
statements.

Of those standards that are not yet effective, IFRS 16 is expected to have an insignificant impact on the Group’s consolidated
financial statements in the peried of initial application.

IFRS 16 Leases

The Group is required to adopt IFRS 16 Leases from 1 January 2019. The Group has assessed the estimated impact that the
initial application of [FRS 16 will have on its consolidated financial statements, as described below, The actual impact of
adopting the standard on 1 January 2019 may change because:

- the Group has not finalised the testing and assessment of controls over its new IT systems; and
- the new accounting policies are subject to change until the Group presents its first consolidated financial statements
that include the date of initial application.

IFRS 16 introduces a single, on-balance sheet lease accounting model for lessees. A lessee recognises a right-of-use asset
representing its right to use the underlying asset and a lease liability representing its obligation to make lease payments.
There are recognition exemptions for short-term leases and leases of low-value items. Lessor accounting remains similar to
the current standard — i.e. lessors continue lo classify leases as finance or operating leases.

IFRS 16 replaces existing leases guidance, including IAS 17 Leases, IFRIC 4 Determining whether an Arrangement contains
a Lease, SIC-15 Operating Leases — Incentives and SIC-27 Evaluating the Substance of Transactions Involving the Legal
Form of a Lease.

Leases in which the Group is a lessee

The Group has completed an initial assessment of the potential impact on its consolidated financial statements but has not
yet completed its detailed assessment. The actual impact of applying IFRS 16 on the financial statements in the period of
initial application will depend on future economic conditions, the development of the Group's lease portfolio, the Group’s
assessment of whether it will exercise any lease renewal options and the extent to which the Group chooses to use practical
expedients and recognition exermptions.

As at 31 December 2018, the Group’s future minimum lease payments under cancellable and non-cancellable operating
leases amounted to AED 60.3 million, on an undiscounted basis, which is unlikely to have a material impact on the Group's
consolidated financial statements.

No significant impact is expected for the Group’s finance leases.

Transition

The Group plans to apply IFRS 16 initially on 1 January 2019, using a modified retrospective approach in a way that right
of use asset will be recognized equal to the present value of minimum future payments relating to operating leases and

correspondingly no amount will be recognised in the retained earnings, with no restatement of comparative information.

The Group plans to apply the practical expedient to grandfather the definition of a lease on transition. This means that it will
apply IFRS 16 to all coniracts entered into before 1 January 2019 and identified as leases in accordance with IAS 17 and
IFRIC 4.

T
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3. Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)

y. Standards and interpretation issued and not yet effective for accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2018
- (continued)

Other standards

The following amended standards are not expecied to have a significant impact on the Group’s consolidated financial
statements.
¢ Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards 2015-2017 Cycle — various standards
e Long-term Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures (Amendments to 1AS 28) Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement (Amendments to [AS 19)
IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments
Amendments to References to Conceptual Framework in IFRS Standards
e [FRS 17 Insurance Contracts.

4. Risk management

i. Risk management framework

The Board of Directors (*the Board”} is responsible for the overall framework of the risk governance and management. The
Board is responsible for determining risk strategy, setting the Group’s risk limits and ensuring that risk exposure is monitored,
controlled effectively and kept within the set limits. It is also responsible for establishing a clearly defined risk management

structure and for approval of the risk policies and procedures, infrastructure and management of all risks related to the Group.

In order to effectively discharge this responsibility, the Board is assisted by Board Committees and Management Committees.
The briefing about the role and function of each committee is as follows:

Executive Committee (EC)

EC acts as the Board's senior executive management assuring that the Board meets its strategic and operational objectives.
EC consists of four members.

Audit Committee (AC)

The AC consists of Board members and its purpose is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility by:
s  Overseeing the Group's financial reporting processes, maintaining accounting policies, reviewing and approving
the financial information; and
* Reviewing reports on the internal controls.
e  Managing the relationship with the Group’s external auditors; and
e Reviewing the internal audit reports and monitors contro] issues of major significance of the Group.

Risk Management Committee (RMC)

The RMC consists of Board Members and its purpose is to assist the Board in fulfilling its oversight responsibility by:

J Overseeing the risks inherent in the businesses of the Group and the control processes with respect to such risks;

. Reviewing the risk profile of the Group;

. Managing the Risk Management Compliance and control activities of the Group;

U Providing a critical assessment of the organisation’s business strategies and plans from an Enterprise risk
perspective; and

° Ensuring that appropriate policies and procedures are in place for managing risks to which the Group is exposed.
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4, Risk management (continued)
i.  Risk management framework (continued)
Management Committee (MC)

The scope of management commitiee includes all cross functional issues that are not covered in the scope of other
committees. Typically, MC covers the areas like strategic, policies, human resources, marketing and administrative
processes. In addition, the MC is also responsible to liaise with all other units/divisions across the Group.

Investment Committee (IC)

The purpose of the IC is to review the quality of the Group's Investment portfolio on behalf of the Board of Directors, trends
affecting the portfolio, the administration of investment related policies, as well as the approval of Investment proposals,
including Sukuks and Syndicate Finance within the approval limit set by the BOD.

IT Steering Committee (ITSC)

The ITSC provides strategic and tactical guidance for managing the Group's overall technology systems in the long and short
term, fo ensure that Information Technology (IT) initiatives are consistent with the strategic business goals of the Group.
The ITSC is charged with assisting the Board in:
*  Providing guidance in the pricritization and implementation of technelogy initiatives and projects (including those
related to infrastructure);
e Reviewing IT operations;
e Reviewing IT Security plans, policies and reports relating to the effectiveness of information security, their
implementation and measures taken to address any residual risks;
» Reviewing Business Continuity plans, policies and reports relating to the effectiveness of business continuity, their
implementation and measures taken to address any residual risks; and
e Reviewing the Group’s IT development, strategic opportunities and plans.

Asset and Liability Comnmtittee (ALCO)

The objective of ALCO is to derive the most appropriate strategy for the Group in lerms of the mix of assets and liabilities
given its expectations of the future and the potential consequences of profit rate movements, liquidity constraints, and foreign
exchange exposure and capital adequacy. The ALCO is also responsible (o ensure that all strategies conform to the Group’s
risk appetite and levels of exposure as determined by the Board of Directors.

The roles of ALCO include the following:

Develop an effective asset and liability management process and related procedures to oversee and monitor the Group’s
approved policies and procedures in relation to the management and control of the following risks:

Asset and Liability Committee (ALCO)

Liquidity risk — being the risk from the Group’s inability to meet obligations when they become due without incurring
unacceptable losses because of an inability to liquidate assets or to obtain adequate funding;

Market risk — being the following risks;

»  The risk to earnings from adverse movements in profit rates, exchange rates and market volatility; and

®  The risk from changes in the value of portfolio of financial instruments;

Statement of financial position risk - being the following risks;

= The risk to eamnings from changes in profit rates and market volatility in retail and wholesale rates;

=  The risk to value and capital from changes in the value of assets and liabilities as a result of changes in profit rates
and market volatility; and

=  The risk from material changes in global and domestic economic conditions generally,
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Risk management {continued)
Risk management framework (continued)
Credit Committee (CC)

CC manages the credit risk of the Group by continuous review of credit limits, policies and procedures, the approval of
specific exposures and work out siluation, constant revaluation of the finances portfolio and the sufficiency of provisions
thereof,

Human Resource Committee (HRC)

HRC manages the resources, performance and hiring of individuals required by the Group on a time to time basis.

Risk management group (RMG)

In order to manage the credit, market, operational and IT security risks an RMG is in place. Its role includes the following:

e develop a strategy, policy and framework for risk management such that these are aligned with business
requirements;

¢ provide support to the Group in implementation of the framewaork;

»  bring together analysis of risk concentrations and sensitivities across the Group;

e act as a point of reference for risk and control matters, providing advice to management, sharing best practices and
carrying out special reviews as directed by ALCO; and

» provide independent assessment of, and challenge to the busincss areas’ risk management and profiles to ensure
that they are maintained in a robust manner.

Compliance
The overall role of compliance is to:

e  cnsure compliance risks are adequately identified, assessed, monitored and controlled in conjunction with Business
and other control functions;

e  ensure senior management is fully informed of significant compliance issues including “KYC™ and “AML", and
plans for their resolution;

e contribute to a “no surprise” compliance culture by educating and communicating compliance awareness throughout
the Group;

o align annual compliance plans with business straiegies and goals; and

=  meet regulatory expectations.

Internal audit

The role of the internal audit department within the Group is to provide independent and objective assurance that the process
for identifying, evaluating and managing significant risks faced by the Group is appropriatc and effectively applied. In
addition, it also provides an independent check on the compliance with laws and regulations and measuring compliance with
the Group’s policies and procedures.

It is led by the head of internal audit who reports to the AC of the Board of Directors, with administrative reporting to the
Chief Executive Officer (CEQ).

To perform its role effectively, internal audit has organizational independence from management, to enable unrestricted
evaluation of management activities and personnel.
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4. Risk management (continued)
i. Risk management framework (continued)

Internal control

The role of the internal control department is to ensure that the Group has a sound internal control system in place, meeting
international standards and fulfilling the requirements of the Group’s management and exiernal regulatory bodies. The
functions and responsibilities of the Internal control department include:

¢  Ensuring that the Group's operational policies, processes and controls are adhered to;
. Ensuring that proper internal controls are in place and that they are functioning as designed in a timely and effective
manner;
* Periodic review of the Group's intemnal control system in order to identify areas where internal controls may be
weak, not present and areas where there appear to be excessive controls resulting in operational inefficiency so as
10 suggest ways to rectify the same;
e  FEnable the management to conduct an annual review of the efficiency of the internal control system and report its
findings; and
Foliow up of the operational activities from a preventive and detective angle and oversee operational controls being
exercised to ensure that these are timely and effective.

Governance and project management of IFRS 9

The adoption of IFRS 9 was a significant milestone for the Group, involving substantial finance, risk management and
technology resources. The project was managed through a strong povernance structure across risk management, finance,
technology, and the business unils. The Group's system of internal controls are refined and revised where required to meet
all the requirements of [FRS 9. The Group has applied many components of its existing governance framework to ensure
that appropriate validations and conlrols are in place over new key processes and significant areas of judgment. Adoption of
IFRS 9 in 2018 has resulted in revisions to procedures, changes and amendments to internal control documents, applicable
credit risk manuals, development of new risk models and associated methodologies and new processes within risk
management. Periodic reporting on the progress against plan and results of parallel runs were provided to Group’s senior
management throughout the project implementation phase.

ii. Financial risk management

The Group has exposure to the following primary risks from its use of financial instruments:
s Credit risk;

Liquidity risk;

¢  Market risk; and

e  Operational risk.

Risk is inherent to the Group’s business and activities. The Group’s ability to identify, assess, monitor and manage each type
of risk to which the Group is exposed is an important factor in its financial stability, performance and reputation.

The Group's risk management policies are established to identify and analyse the risks faced by the Group, to set appropriate
risk limits and controls, and to monitor risks and adherence to limits. Risk management policies and systems are reviewed
regularly to reflect changes in market conditions, products and services offered.

This note presents information relating to the Group’s exposure to each of the above risks, the Group's objectives, policies
and processes for measuring and managing risk, and the Group’s management of capital.

a. Credit risk

Credit risk is the risk that a customer or counterparty to a financial asset fails to meet its contractual obligations and cause
the Group to incur a financial loss. It arises principally from the Group’s financing receivables, ijarah receivable, balances
with banks and financial institutions, international murabaha and wakalah with financial institutions, other assets (except
prepayments and assets available for sale) and investments in debt instruments. For risk management reporting purposes, the
Group considers and consolidates all elements of credit risk exposures into different sectors.
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

The Group manages its credit risk exposure through diversification of ils financing activities and investments to avoid
concentration of risk with individuals or group of customers in specific location or business.

In addition, the Group manages the credit exposure by obtaining security where appropriate and [imiting the duration of
exposure. [n certain cases, the Group may also close out transactions or assign them to other counterparties to mitigate credit

risk,
Regular audits of business units and Group credit processes are undertaken by intemal audit division.

I. Concentration

Concentration risk arises when a number of counterparties are engaged in similar business activities or activities in same
geographic region or have similar economic features that would cause their ability to meet contractual obligations to be
similarly affected by changes in economic, political or other conditions. The Group measures its exposure to credit risk by
reference to the gross carrying amount of financial assets less amounts offset, profit suspended and impairment losses, if

any,

Concentration of credit risk by industrial sector for investment in Islamic financing are presented in note 7b. Concentration
of credit risk by geographical distribution of due from banks and murabaha and wakalah arrangements with financial
institutions is set out in note 29.

II. Maximum exposare to credit risk

The table below is the maximum exposure to credit risk for the Group and is shown gross, before any mitigation of collaterals.
Gross maximum exposure

2018 2017

Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions 285,823 744,830
Murabaha and wakalah with financial institutions 5,268,935 3,925,490
Investment in Islamic financing 25,580,511 22,847,256
Investment securities measured at amortised cost 3,854,270 3,882,019
Investment securities measured at FVTOCI 1,191,463 -
Other assets 748,777 625,167
36,929,779 32,024,762

Contingent liabilities 748,112 511,685
Total 37,677,891 - 32,536,447

Credit risk exposure under equity investments classified as fair value through profit and loss and fair value through other
comprehensive income are not subject to any impairment under IFRS 9. Refer note § for details.
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)
a. Credit risk (continued)

II. Credit quality

The table below shows the stage wise breakup of financial assets.

Cash and balances with banks and financial
institutions

Loss allowance

Carrying amount

Murabaha and wakalak with financial
institutions

Loss allowance

Carrying amount

Investments in Islamic financing
Loss allowance
Carrying amount

Investment securities measured at amortised
cost

Loss allowance

Carrying amount

Investment securities measured at FYTOCI
Loss allowance
Carrying amount

Other assers (excluding non-financial

assets)

Loss allowance

Carrying amount

Total credit risk exposures relating to omn-
balance sheet assets

Letter of credit and guarantee

Loss allowance

Credit risk exposures relating to off-balance
sheet assets

2018 2017
ECL Staging
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3
12 month Lifetime Lifetime Total Total
285,812 11 - 285,823 744,830
(24) - - (24) -
285,788 1 - 285,799 744,830
5,268,935 - - 5,268,935 3,925,490
(1,707) - - (1,707 -
5,267,228 - - 5,267,228 3,925,490
22,639,112 1,540,472 1,400,927 25,580,511 22,847,256
(168,261)  (191,279)  (1,097,211)  (1,456,751) {1,139,881)
22,470,851 1,349,193 303,716 24,123,760 21,707,375
1,828,663 - 25,607 3,854,270 3,882,019
(6,244) - (24,327) (30,571) (19,205)
3,822,419 - 1,280 3,823,699 3,862,814
1,191,463 - - 1,191,463 -
{958) - - {958) -
1,190,505 - - 1,190,505 -
712,351 1,274 35,152 748,777 625,167
(6,948) ) (35,152) (42,107 (56,034)
705,403 1,267 - 706,670 569,133
33,742,194 1,350,471 304,996 35,397,661 30,809,642
740,207 7,674 231 748,112 511,685
(2,892) (393) - (3,285) -
737,315 7,281 231 744,827 511,685
34,479,509 1,357,752 305,227 36,142,488 31,321,327
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4. Risk management {continued)

ii. Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

1V. Credit risk exposure of the Group's financial assets for each internal risk rating

Investment in Islamic financing 2018 2017

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
Investment grade 11,269,846 112,765 - 11,382,611 1,126,089
Non-investment grade 11,369,266 1,174,099 - 12,543,365 10,420,142
Watch-list - 253,608 - 253,608 10,783,135
Credit impaired - - 1,400,927 1,400,927 517,890
Grand Total 22,639,112 1,540,472 1,400,927 15,580,511 22,847,256
Invesement securities

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Taotal
Investment grade 4,766,843 - - 4,766,843 3,584,961
Non-investment grade 253,283 - - 253,283 271,451
Credit impaired - - 25,607 25,607 25,607
Grand Total 5,020,126 - 25,607 5,045,733 3,882,019

V. Significant increase in credit risk (*SICR”)

When determining whether the risk of default on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial recognition,
the Group considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This
includes both quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience and expert
credit assessment and including forward-looking information. The Group considers a financial asset to have experienced a
SICR when one or more of the following quantitative, qualitative or backstop criteria have been met:

Quantitative criteria
Corporate financing:

For corporate financing, if the borrower experiences a significant increase in probability of default which can be triggered by
the following factors:

° financing facilities restructured in the last 12 months;

. financing facilities that are past due for 30 days and above but less than 90 days;

. Actual or expected change in extemnal ratings and / or internal ratings

Retail:

For Retail portfolio, if the borrowers meet one or more of the following criteria:

. Adverse findings for an account/ borrower as per credit bureau data;

. financing rescheduling before 30 Days Past Due (DPD);

. Accounts overdue between 30 and 90 days.

Treasury

. Significant increase in probability of default of the underlying treasury instrument;
J Significant change in the investment’s expected pertormance & behavior of borrower (collateral value, payment

holiday, payment to income ratio etc.).

.,
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)

a, Credit risk (continued)
V. Significant increase in credit risk (*SICR") (continued)

Qualitative criteria:
Feedback from the early warning signal framework of the Group (along with factors such as adverse changes in business,

financial or economic conditions).

Backstop:
A backstop is applied and the financial asset is considered to have experienced a SICR if the borrower is more than 30 days

past due on its contractual payments.

The Group has not used the low credit exemption for any financial instruments in the year ended 31 December 2018.

Credit grades
The Group uses internal credit risk gradings that reflects its assessment of the probability of default of an individual customer.

The Group’s rating method comprises 19 ratings levels for instruments not in default (1 to 7-) and three default classes (8-
10). Investment grade is considered to be financial assets falling within credit grades 1 to 4-. Non-investment grade is
considered to be financial assets falling within credit grades 5+ to 7, whereas, financial assets credit graded 7- are considered
to be watch-list. The master scale assigns each rating category a specified range of probabilities of default, which is stable
over time. The rating method is subject to annual validation and recalibration so that they reflect the latest projections in the
light of all actually observed defaults.

The Group aliocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on a variety of data that is determined to be predictive of the
risk of default and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative
factors that are indicative of risk of default. These factors vary depending on the nature of the exposure and the type of
borrower.

Credit risk grades are defined and calibrated such that the risk of default occurring increases exponentially as the credit risk
deleriorates so, for example, the difference in risk of default between credit risk grades 1 and 2 is smaller than the difference
between credit risk grades 2 and 3. Each exposure is allocated to a credit risk grade on initial recognition based on available
information about the customer. Exposures are subject to ongoing monitoring, which may result in an exposure being moved
to a different credit risk grade.

The table below provides an indicative mapping of how the Group’s internal credit risk grades relate to PD and, for the
corporale customers portfolio, to external credit ratings of Moody’s, Fitch and S & P rating agencies.

J%
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Risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

Financial risk management (continued)

V. Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) (continued)

Credit grades (continued)

{Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

SIB Grude Scak & S & P Raiting Fitch Rating Moody's Ratlng .
Chassificatlon Benchmark Benchmark Benchmark ERR Grade D % Gende Description
Exceptional business credit, judged 1o be of the
highest quality, with minimal credit risk.
Superior assel quality and financial capacity;

! Excellent AAA AAA Aut ! 0008 1 which includes strong liquidity and cash
generation, excellent and proven management;
market leader.

Adt Ad+ Aal 2 0013 Very good business along with very good asset
guality, consistently strong liquidity and

2 2 9 : . o .

2 Strong AA AA Anl 2 U} financing capacity; highly regarded in the

AA- AA- And 5. 0029 industry with strong market sharc,
Ar Ar Al > 0.044 Good business credil considered upper-medium
grade, subject Lo low credit risk; good asset

3 Good A A Al k! 0.067 quality. strong liquidity and financing capacity.
Company is above average size and holds a good

A A a3 3 ol position in the industry.
BBB+ BBB+ Baa | 4+ 0.155
Acceptable business credil subject to moderale
R 023 credit risk, considered medium grade and as such

] Satislactory BBR BEB+ - 4 235 may possess certain higher than average risk

characteristics. Customer has demonstraled

BRB- BEB. Bas 3 a. 0.355 adequaie to good performance.

BB+ BB« Bal 5e 0565 | Average to below average business credit subject
1o moderate credil risk, considered medium grade

5 Adequate BB BB Ba2 5 085 and as such may possess certain higher risk

charactetistics. Custemer has demonstrated
Bl BE- Ba2 5. 125 adequate performance.
B+ B+ Bl Gt 19
B B B2 [ 29 Below average business credil and subject to high
credil risk, Custoner is likely a lower-ler

) Marginal B- B- B3 6- 425 competitor in ils industry. Acceptable b
requiring close moniloring and support of strong

CCC+ CCC+ Con 1l T+ 6.5 risk mitigants.

cce cce Can2 ? 10
Weak business credit: Judged Lo be poor standing
and subject to very high credit risk. Conslilutes

7 VYulnerable CCe- cee- Cas 3 7- 135 undue and unwarranted credit risk. Currently in
performing status and not 1o the point of
justifying a Substandand classification.

In Default {Substandard): Unacceptable business

§ Substandard e cc o 8 100 credit wilh normal repayment In jeopardy.

In Default {Doubifinl): Full repayment

9 Doubtful Iy c c 9 100 questionable, Serious probletns to the point

where partial loss of principal is likely.
In Delaull (Loss): Expected loss. Such an asset
R may have recovery bul not 1o the point of
10 Loss b D 10 100 avoiding loss classification, Possible stage 3
provision and wrile-olT.
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)
V. Significant increase in credit risk (*SICR”) (continued)
Generating the term structure of PD

Credit risk grades are a primary input into the determination of the term structure of PD for exposures. The Group collects
performance and defauit information about its credit risk exposures analysed by jurisdiction or region and by type of product
and customer as well as by credit risk grading. For some portfolios, information obtained from external credit reference
agencies is also used.

The Group employs statistical models to analyse the data collected and generate estimates of the remaining lifetime PD of
exposures and how these are expected to change as a result of the passage of time.

Determining whether credit risk has increased significantly

The Group assesses whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition at each reporting date.
Determining whether an increase in credit risk is significant depends on the characteristics of the financial instrument and
the customer, and the geographical region. What is considered significant differs for various types of financing, in particular
between corporate and retail portfolios. The increase in PD is dependent upon multiple factors including customer industry,
customer initial rating, maturity of financing, repayment frequency, product type, etc.

The credit risk may also be deemed to have increased significantly since initial recognition based on qualitative factors linked
to the Group’s credit risk management processes thal may nol otherwise be fully reflected in its quantitative analysis on a
timely basis. This will be the case for exposures that meet certain heightened risk criteria, such as placement on a watch list.
Such qualitative factors are based on its expert judgment and relevant historical experiences.

The Group monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk by regular reviews to
confirm that:

. the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is in default;

. the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due;

«  the average time between the identification of a significant increase in credit risk and default appears reasonable;

. exposures are not generally transferred directly from 12-month ECL measurement to credit-impaired; and

. there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month PD (Stage 1) and lifetime PD
(Stage 2).

Definition of default

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when:
. the customer is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions

such as realising collateral (if any is held);
. it is becoming probable that the customer will restructure the asset as a result of bankruptcy due to the customer’s

inability to pay its credit obligations.

.
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4. Risk management (continued)

ii. Financial risk management {(continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)
V. Significant increase in credit risk (*SICR™) (continued)
Definition of default (continued)

In assessing whether a customer is in default, the Group considers indicators that are:

. qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant;
. quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment on another obligation of the same issuer to the Group; and
. based on data developed internally and obtained from external scurces.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time to reflect
changes in circumstances. The definition of default largely aligns with that applied by the Group for regulatory capital
purposes

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Group incorporates forward-looking information into both the assessment of whether the credit risk of an instrument
has increased significantly since its initial recognition and the measurement of ECL.

The Group formulates three economic scenarios: a base case, optimistic and downside scenaric. The base case is aligned
with information used by the Group for other purposes such as strategic planning and budgeting.

Periodically, the Group carries out stress testing of more extreme shocks to calibrate its determination of the upside and
downside representative scenaries. A comprehensive review is performed at least annually on the design of the scenarios by
a panel of experts that advises the Group's senior management.

The Group has identified and documented key drivers of credit risk and credit losses for each portfolio of financial
instruments and, using an analysis of historical data, has estimated relationships between macro-ecenomic variables and
credit risk and credit losses.

The key macroeconomic drivers for credit risk for corporate portfolio are oil price and equity price index, whereas, for retail
portfolio are non-oil UAE GDP, oil price and UAE CPI index.

Measurement of ECL
The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structure of the following variables:

= probability of default (PD);
. loss given default (LGDY}; and
. exposure at default (EAD).

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 is calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL is calculated
by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD. The methodology of estimating PDs is discussed above under the heading
*Generating the term structure of PD’.
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4. Risk management (continued)

ii. Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

V. Significant increase in credit risk (“SICR”) (continued)

Measurement of ECL (continued)

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Group estimates LGD parameters based on the history of
recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure, collateral, seniority of the
claim, counterparly industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral (o the financial asset. For financings secured
by retail and commercial property, CBUAE haircuts are a key parameter in determining LGD. LGD estimates are recalibrated
for different economic scenarios and, for real estate lending, to reflect possible changes in property prices. They are calculated
on a discounted cash flow basis using the effective price rate as the discounting factor.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Group derives the EAD from the current exposure to
the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract and arising from amortisation. The

EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. For financing commitments, the EADs are
potential future amounts that may be drawn under the contract, which are estimated based on historical observations and
forward-looking forecasts. For financial guarantees, the EAD represenis the amount of the guaranteed exposure when the
financial guarantee becomes payable. For some financial assets, EAD is determined by computing credit conversion factors
through modelling the range of possible exposure cutcornes at various points in time using scenario and statistical techniques.

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the Group measures
ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any customer’s extension options) over
which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for credit risk management purposes, the Group considers a longer period. The
maximum contractual period extends to the date at which the Group has the right to require repayment of a finance or
terminate a finance commitment or guarantee.

However, for retail and credit card facilities that include both a financing and an undrawn commitment component, the Group
measures ECL over a period longer than the maximum contractual period if the Group’s contractual ability to demand
repayment and cancel the undrawn commitment does not limit the Group’s exposure to credit losses to the contractual notice
periad. These facilities do not have a fixed term or repayment structure and are managed on a collective basis. The Group
can cancel them with immediate effect but this contractual right is not enforced in the normal day-to-day management, but
only when the Group becomes aware of an increase in credit risk at the facility level. This longer period is estimated taking
into account the credit risk management actions that the Group expects to take, and that serve to mitigate ECL,

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the basis of
shared risk characteristics that include:

. instrument type;

. credit risk gradings;

. date of initial recognition;

. remaining term to maturity;

. industry; and

- geographic location of the customer.

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain appropriately
homogeneous.

For portfolios in respect of which the Group has limited historical data, external benchmark information is used 1o supplement
the internally available data.

Reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance by class of financial asset is provided in note
p/
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)

a. Credit risk (continued)

VI. Financial assets with renegotiated terms

For the purposes of disclosures in these consolidated financial statements, ‘[nvestment in Islamic financing with renegotiated
terms’ are defined as investment in Islamic financing that have been restructured due to a deterioration in the customer’s
financial position, for which the Group has made concessions by agreeing to terms and conditions that are more favorable
for the customer than the Group had provided initially and that it would not otherwise consider.

The Group renegotiates investment in Islamic financing to customers in financial difficulties {referred to as ‘forbearance
acliviies’) to maximise collection opportunities and minimise the risk of default. Under the Group’s forbearance policy,
forbearance is granted on a selective basis if the customer is currently in default on its liability or if there is a high risk of
default, there is evidence that the customer made all reasonable efforts to pay under the original contractual terms and the
customer is expected to be able to meet the revised terms.

VII. Collaterals and securities

The Group holds collateral and securities against investment in Islamic financing in the form of cash margins, personal
guarantees, and mortgages over properties or other securities over assets. Estimates of credit risk mitigation relating to
investment in Islamic financing are based on the value of collateral assessed at the time of financing, and are subsequently
monitored on a periodic basis. A quantification of the extent to which collateral and other credit enhancements mitigaie credit
risk is shown below:

2018 2017

Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total Total
Mortgape of properties 8,929,069 1,021,577 344,649 10,295,295 10,048,247
Cash lien and others 122,269 19,682 742 142,693 33,020
Carrying amount 9,051,338 1,041,259 345,391 10,437,988 10,081,267

Settlement risk

The Group's activities may give rise to risk at the time of settlement of transaclions and trades. Settlement risk is the risk of
loss due fo the failure of a counter party to honor its obligations to deliver cash, securities or other assets as contractually

agreed,

For certain types of transactions the Group mitigates this risk by ensuring that a trade date is settled only when both parties
have fulfilled their contractual settlement obligations. Settlement limits form part of the credit limit monitoring process.
Acceptance of settlement risk on free settlement trades requires transaction specific or counterparty specific approvals from
Group risk.
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management {continued)
b. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will encounter difficulty in meeting its obligations associated with financial liabilities
that are settled by delivering cash or other financial assets. It includes the risk of the inability to fund assets at appropriate
maturities and rates and the inabhility to liquidate assets at reasonable prices and in an appropriate timeframe and inability to
meet obligations as they become due. Liquidity risk can be caused by market disruptions or credit downgrades which may
cause certain sources of funding to diminish.

The Group's approach for managing liquidity risk is to ensure that, management has diversified funding sources and closely
monitors liquidity to ensure adequate funding.

The Group's board of directors set the Group's strategy for managing liquidity risk and delegates responsibility for oversight
of the implementation of this policy to ALCO. ALCO approves the Group’s liquidity policies and procedures. Treasury
department manages the Group's liquidity position on a day-to-day basis and reviews daily reports covering the liquidity
position of both the Group and operating subsidiaries. All liquidity policies and procedures are subject to review and approval
by ALCO.

Exposure to liguidity risk

The Group’s contractual maturities of financial instruments are summarised in the table below based on the contractual
repayment arrangements and does not take account of the effective maturities as indicated by the Group’s deposit retention
history. The contractual maturities of financial instruments have been determined on the basis of the remaining period at the
reporting date to the contractual maturity date. The maturity profile is menitored by management to ensure adequate liquidity
is to be maintained.

31 December 2018 Less than 3 3 months to Over 5 Total
months 1 year  1-5 years years
Assets
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions 2,440,868 - - - 2,440,868
Murabaha and wakalah with financial institutions 6,464,261 385,665 367,300 - 7,217,226
Investment in Islamic financing 1,630,349 3,570,112 11,870,906 7,052,393 24,123,760
Investment securities 344,134 599,261 3,639,495 1,637,562 6,220,452
Other assets 706,670 - - - 706,670
11,586,282 4,555,038 15,877,701 8,689,955 40,708,976
Liabilities
Customers’ deposits 19,798,665 6,639,610 - - 26,438,275
Due to banks 3,066,086 1,686,230 1,796,465 - 6,548,781
Sukuk payable - - 5,499,603 - 5,499,603
Other liabilities 680,759 123,290 5,558 - 809,607
23,545,510 8,449,130 7,301,626 - 39,296,266
Contingent liabilities 197,136 524,419 1,394,075 - 2,115,630
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)
b. Liquidity risk (continued)

Exposure to liguidity risk (continued)

(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

31 December 2017 Less than 3 3 months to Over 5 Total
months 1 year  1-5 years years
Assets
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions 3,103,111 - - - 3,103,111
Murabaha and wakalah with financial institutions 3,319,445 312,205 293,840 - 3,925,490
Investment in Islamic financing 1,695,470 3,176,741 10,680,246 6,154,918 21,707,375
Investment securities 430,437 245,344 3,118,082 1,240,274 5,034,137
Other assets 487,754 81,379 - - 569,133
9,036,217 3,815,669 14,092,168 7,395,192 34,339,246
Liabilities
Customers” deposits 17,784,124 4,534,399 - - 22,318,523
Due to banks 2,523,341 - 1,552,900 - 4,076,241
Sukuk payable - 1,835,962 3,665,781 - 5,501,743
Other liabilities 672,572 131,653 4,613 - 808,838
20,980,037 6,502,014 5,223,294 - 32,705,345
Contingent liabilities 4,495 182,571 1,770,950 252,505 2,210,521

Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions include mandatory deposits with the CBUAE (refer note 27). The
Group's expected cash flows may vary from this analysis, for example, demand deposits from customers are expected to
maintain a stable or increasing balance.

The residual maturity of the Group’s financial liabilities is not significantly different from its contractual maturity, since, the
Group follows Shari’a principles and contractual returns which is based on a profit or loss sharing basis and are not
guaranteed.

¢. Market risks

Market risk is the risk that the Group's income and / or value of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of changes in
market prices such as profit rates, foreign exchange rates and market prices of equity.

Profit margin risk

The Group is not significantly exposed to risk in terms of re-pricing its customer deposits, since, in accordance with Islamic
Sharia, the Group does not provide a contractual rate of return to its investment account holders. The return payable to
depositors and investment account holders is based on the principal of the mudaraba, by which the depositors and investment
account holders apree to share the profits made by the Group’s mudaraba asset pool over a given period.

Profit rate risk

The principal risk to which non-trading portfolios are exposed, is the risk of loss from fluctuations in the future cash flows
or fair values of financial instruments because of a change in market profit rates. Profit rate risk primarily comprises of market
and valuation risk, are managed on the basis of pre-determined asset allocations across various asset categories, a continuous
appraisal of market conditions and trends and management’s estimate of long and short term changes in fair value. Overall
pricing or profit rate risk positions are managed by the ALCO.
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)

¢. Market risk (continued)
Profit rate risk (continued)

The sensitivity of the consolidated staternent of profit or loss is the effect of the assumed changes in profit rates on the net
income for one year, based on the non-trading financial assets and financial liabilities

Increase / decrease in net

income
Increase / decrease
in basis point 2018 2017
Net profit rate sensitivity on financial
assets and liabilities 50 basis points 22,222 19,542

Currency risk

Currency risk is the risk that the Group’s income or value of a financial instrument, other than functional currency
denominated financial instruments, will fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

Currency risk is managed on the basis of limits determined by the Board of Directors and a continuous assessment of the
Group's open posilion and current and expected exchange rate movements. The Group does not engage in foreign exchange
trading and where necessary matches currency exposures inherent in certain assets with liabilities in the same or correlated
currency.

The Board of Directors has set limits on positions by currency. Positions are closely monitored by ALCO to ensure positions
are maintained within established limits.

At 31 December, the Group had the following significant net exposures denominated in foreipgn currencies:

Currency net position

US dollar (1,654,089) (1,543,278)
UK Sterling 45,262 30,888
Euro (1,413) (7,498)
Bahrani Dinar 7,402 7,399
Saudi Riyals (66,992) (4,397)
Kuwaiti Dinar 717 (1,023)

The exchange rate of AED against US Dollar is pegged since November 1980 and therefore, the Group’s exposure to currency
risk is limited to that extent.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk arises from the change in fair value of equity instruments. The Group manages this risk through
diversification of investments in terms of geographical distribution and industry concentration.

The table summarises the impact of a change in equity prices by 10% on statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income of the Group.

2018 2017
Effect on Effect on other Effect on Effect on other
profit or loss comprehensive profit or loss comprehensive
income income
Financial assets at fair value through profit
or loss 4,238 - 4,932 -
Financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income - 116,387 - 106,689
7
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4. Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)

d. Operational risks

Operational risk is the risk of a direct or indirect loss arising from a wide variety of causes associated with the Group’s
processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity risks
such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate behavior,
Operational risks arise from all of the Group’s operations and are faced by all business entities,

The Group’s objective is to manage operational risk so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage, Lo the
Group's reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and creativity.

The Group has established a framework of policies and procedures to identify, assess, control, manage and report risks. The
Risk Management Committee identify and manage operational risk to reduce the likelihood of any operational losses. Where
appropriate, risk is mitigated by way of insurance. In all cases, the Group’s operational risk policies requires compliance
with all applicable legal and regulatory requirements.

Compliance with policies and procedures is supported by periodic reviews undertaken by the Intenal Audit Division. The
results of these reviews are discussed with the management of the business unit to which they relate, with summaries
submitted to the Audit Committee and senior management of the Group.

e. Capital management
Regulatory capital

The Group’s lead regulator, the CBUAE, sets and monitors regulatory capital requirements. The Group’s objectives when
managing capital are as follows:

»  Safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and increase returns for shareholders; and
¢ Comply with regulatory capital requirements set by the CBUAE.

The Group’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to
sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders’ retumn is also recognised and
the Group recognises the need to maintain a balance between the higher returns that might be possible with greater gearing
and the advantages and security afforded by a sound capital position.

The Group’s regulatory capital adequacy ratio is set by the CBUAE. The Group has complied with all externally imposed
capital requirements throughout the period. There have been no material changes in the Group’s management of capital
during the year, The Group has adopted a standardised approach for Credit risk and Market risk and a Basic [ndicator
approach for Operational risk as a starting point and is working towards migrating to the foundation intemnal rating based
(IRB) and advanced IRB in accordance with the time line set by CBUAE.

¢ Tier 1 capital, which includes ordinary share capital, legal and statutory reserve and retained earnings
¢ Tier 2 capital, which includes fair value reserves relating o unrealised gains / losses on financial assets classified as
FVTOCI and collective impairment provision.

The following limits have been applied for Tier 2 capital:
« Total tier 2 capital shall not exceed 67% of tier 1 capital

¢ Subordinated liabilities shall not exceed 50% of total tier | capital
» Collective impairment provision shall not exceed 1.25% of risk weighted assets.
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4. Risk management (continued)

i. Financial risk management (continued)

e. Capital management (continued)

The table below summarises the composition of regulatory capital of the Group:

Basel 111
2018 2017
Tier 1 capital
Ordinary share capilal 2,934,855 2,934,855
Retained eamings 932,793 1,134,084
Fair value reserve (87,537) (39,488)
Statutory reserve 89,008 89,008
Legal reserve 1,429.264 1,377,902
Total tier 1 capital base 5,298,383 5,496,361
Tier 2 capital
Collective impairment provisions 371,192 321,818
Total tier 2 capital base 371,192 321,818
Total capital base 5,669,575 5,818,179
Risk weighted assets
Credit risk 29,695,340 25745411
Market risk 145,334 263,612
Operational risk 2,202,861 2,234,511
Risk weighted assets 32,043,535 28,243,534
Tier 1 ratio 16.53% 19.46%
Capital adequacy ratio 17.69% 20.60%
Capital adequacy ratio {(excluding proposed cash dividends) 16.96% 19.77%
2018
Asset classes Gross Exposure CRM  Net exposure Risk
outstanding before after credit weighted
CRM conversion assets
Claims on sovereigns 10,060,574 10,060,574 - 10,060,574 861,786
Claims on non-commercial public sector 1,729,211 1,729,211 - 1,725,179 -
Claims on banks 7,504,847 7,504,847 - 7,504,006 2,599,531
Claims on corporate and government 11,613,311 11,588,965 (40,938) 10,666,087 10,513,519
Claims included in the regulatory retail
portfolio 7,977,118 7,977,065 (81,709) 7,967,092 7,264,673
Claims secured by residential property 1,231,593 1,231,593 (121) 1,231,593 951,347
Claims secured by commercial real estate 112,343 112,343 - 112,343 112,343
Past due financing 1,585,515 457,433 (740) 449,837 559,173
Higher-risk categories 10,565 10,565 - 10,565 15,847
Other assets 6,562,233 6,527,080 - 6,519,909 6,817,121
Total claims 48,387,310 47,199,676  (123,508) 46,247,185 29,695,340
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4, Risk management (continued)
ii. Financial risk management (continued)

e. Capital management (continued)

Asset classes

Claims on sovereigns

Claims on non-commercial public sector
Claims on banks

Claims on corperate and government

Claims included in the regulatory retail
portfolio
Claims secured by residential property

Claims secured by commercial real estate

Past due financing
Higher-risk categories
Other assets

Total claims

Risk weights for market risk

{Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

2017
Gross Exposure CRM  Net exposure Risk
outstanding before after credit weighted
CRM conversion assets
9,192,491 9,192,491 - 9,192,491 670,614
1,149,857 1,149,857 - 1,149,857 -
5,488,473 5,488,473 - 5,487,569 1,582,469
10,711,185 10,711,182 (32,867) 9,694,880 9,662,013
7,703,191 7,703,076 - 7,693,153 7,061,906
859,470 859,417 - 859,417 660,378
126,137 126,137 - 126,137 126,137
1,262,261 431,449 - 430,626 526,618
10,863 10,863 - 10,863 16,295
5,175,183 5,175,183 - 5,174,715 5,438,981
41,679,111 40,848,128 (32,867) 39,819,708 25,745,411

Capital requirement for market risk is calculated using the standardised approach. The capital requirement for market risk is

analysed into the capital requirement for profit rate risk, equity risk and foreign exchange risk.

A summary of the capital requirement for market risk under the standardised approach of Basel 111 is set out below:

Equity position risk
Foreign currency risk

Risk weight for operational risk

2018 2017
8,899 21,930
6,361 5,748
15,260 27,678

The capital requirement for operational risk is calculated using the basic indicator approach. The total capital requirement is
calculated as 15% of the last three years average income which amounts to AED 231.3 million (20/7: AED 234.6 miliion).

5. Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions

Cash
Statutory deposit with CBUAE
Due from banks

5.1

463,460 449,397
1,689,711 1,727,918
287,697 925,796
2,440,868 3,103,111

5.1 Due from banks includes a current account balance with CBUAE amounting AED 1.9 million (2047 AED 18!

million).
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6. Murabaha and wakalah with financial institutions

(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

2018 2017

Murabaha 610,908 91,968
Wakala arrangements 6.1 6,606,318 3,833,522
7,217,226 3,925,490

6.1 Wakala arrangements with financial institutions includes Islamic certificate of deposits with CBUAE amounting

AED 1.95 billion {2017: AED 0.80 billion).

7. Investments in Islamic financing

Investments in Islamic financing are secured by acceptable forms of collateral to mitigate the related credit risk, as disclosed

in note 4(a). Investments in Islamic financing comprise the following:

a} By type

Vehicle murabaha

Goods murabaha

Real estate murabaha

Other murabaha receivable
Syndicate murabaha

Gross murabaha financing
Less: deferred profit

Net murabaha financing

ljara financing

Qard hasan

Credit card receivables

Istisna

Total investments in Islamic financing

Less: Loss allowance for investments in Islamic financing

b) By sector

Government departments and authorities
Construction

Manufacturing

Transportation

Real estate

Trading

Financial institutions

Other services

Individual

High net worth individuals

Deferred profit

Less: Loss allowance for investments in Islamic financing

7.1

286,136 314,748
6,483,636 6,052,492
112,270 169,318
404,247 331,976
1,230,249 799,998
8,516,538 7,668,532
(667,904) (683,936)
7,848,634 6,984,596
15,337,400 14,075,838
637,112 517,619
72,196 54,628
1,685,169 1,214,575
25,580,511 22,847,256
(1,456,751) (1,139,881)
24,123,760 21,707,375
7,515,432 7,419,954
713,398 584,808
634,962 617,067
521,355 495,354
3,517,447 3,007,980
1,115,201 952,500
160,468 172,090
630,021 599,785
5,010,023 3,720,000
6,430,108 5,961,654
(667,904) (683,936)
(1,456,751) (1,139,881)
24,123,760 21,707,375
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7. Investments in Islamic financing {(continued)

7.1 Reconciliations from the opening to the closing balance of the loss allowance can be seen below.
2018
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stape 3 Total
Balance at | January - - - 1,139,881
Re-measurement under [FRS 9 - - - 283,943
165,330 358,630 899,864 1,423,824
Transfer to Stage 1 2,250 (2,250) - -
Transfer to Stage 2 (8,060) 8,060 - -
Transfer to Stage 3 (1,951) (140,005) 141,956 -
Net re-measurement of loss allowance 10,692 (33,156) 110,118 87,654
Recovery - - (41,680) (41,680)
Write-offs - - (13,047) (13,047
Balance at 31 December 168,261 191,279 1,097,211 1,456,751
2017
Balance at the beginning of the year 1,023,921
Written off during the year (38,412)
Additional provision for the year 253,847
Recoveries during the year (99,475)
Balance at the end of the year 1,139,881
Re-measurement under I[FRS 9 283.943
Balance at 1 January 1,423,824
8. Investment securities
Investment securities — by category
2018 2017
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
- Equity and Funds 42,377 104,434
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
- Equity and Funds 1,163,871 1,066,389
- Sukuks 1,191,463 -
2,355,334 1,066,889
Less: Loss allowance on financial assets measured at FVTOCI (958) -
2,354,376 1,066,889
Financial assets measured at amortised cost 3,854,270 3,282,019
Less: Loss allowance on financial assets measured at amortised cost (30,571) (19.,205)
3,823,699 3,862.814
6,220,452 5,034,137

8.1 The Bank has purchased equity investments worth AED 183.6 million during the year ended 31 December 2018 (20/7:
102.8 million). Equity investments purchased during the year have been classified under fair value through profit or loss and
fair value through other comprehensive income.

- _____________———— __________________—_______—_______—___—_—_—_——_—___________________}
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8. Investment securities (continued)

Investments securities — by quoted / unquoted

2018 2017
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
Quoted 5,563 67,704
Unquoted 36,814 36.730
42,377 104,434
Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income
Quoted 2,123,676 909,777
Unguoted 231,658 157,112
Less: Loss allowance on financial assets measured at FVTOCI (958) -
2,354,376 1,066,889
Financial assets at amortised cost
Quoted 3,001,955 3,231,815
Unquoted 852,315 650,204
Less: Loss allowance on financial assets measured at amortised cost (30,571) (19,205)
3,823,699 3,862,814

8.2 Sukuk held at amortised cost include AED 3,231 million (20{/7:AED 80! million) pledged against a collateralized
commodity murabaha arrangement (refer note 14.1).

9. Investment properties

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,167,763 2,124,359
Additions 248,046 32,850
Transfer from held-for-sale - 77,372
Transfer to property and equipment - (16,696)
Disposals (87,484) (56,406}
Revaluation {loss) / gain (10,196) 6,284
Balance at the end of the year 2,318,129 2,167,763

The carrying amount of the investment properties is the fair value of the properties as determined by an independent appraiser
having an appropriate recognised professional qualification and recent experience in the location and category of the property
being valued and is reviewed by the Board of Directors on an annual basis. Fair values were determined based on an open
market value basis and significant assumptions made by the valuer are mentioned in note 28.

10. Properties held for sale

Balance at the beginning of the year 568,078 573,248
Additions 114,501 57,337
Transfer from property and equipment - 94,706
Transfer to investment properties - (77,372)
Disposals (12,218) (77,717
Impairment loss (11,901) (2,124)
Balance at the end of the year 658,460 568,078
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11. Qther assets 2018 2017
Prepaid expenses and other advances 65,843 181,327
Profit receivable 272,839 223,771
Sundry debtors 266,356 134,318
Assets available for sale - murabaha assets 138,677 172,804
Others 111,656 55,747
Reimbursements under acceptances 97,926 155,297
Less: loss allowance under IFRS 9 on other assets 42,107) -
Less: loss allowance under IFRS 9 on LC’s and L.G's (3,285) -
907,905 923,264
12. Property and equipment
Freehold Equipment, Capital -
land & furniture Computer Motor work in
buildings & fittings  equipment  vehicles progress Total
Cost
As at 1 January 2018 885,694 127,988 106,321 5,733 16,564 1,142,300
Additions 167 5,054 6,273 779 28,876 41,149
Disposals (2,842) {999) (5,934) (390) - (10,165}
Capitalised 3331 1,847 3,198 - (8,376) -
Asat 31 December 2018 886,350 133,890 109,858 6,122 37,064 1,173,284
Accumulated depreciation
As at 1 January 2018 134,658 105,743 38,691 3,907 - 282,999
Charge for the year 12,791 9,727 18,266 910 - 41,694
Disposals (2,842) (957) (5,907 390) - (10,096)
Asat 31 December 2018 144,607 114,513 51,050 4,427 - 314,597
Net book value
As at 31 December 2018 741,743 19,377 58,808 1,695 37,064 858,687
As at 31 December 2017 751,036 22,245 67,630 1,826 16,564 859,301
13. Customers’ deposits
Note 2018 2017
Current accounts 7,815,320 8,103,493
Saving accounts 2,223,791 2,298,304
Watany / call accounts 437,870 799,286
Time deposits 15,435,348 10,661,125
Margins 525,946 456,315
26,418,275 22,318,523
14. Due to banks
Term deposit 14.1 5,988,326 4,072,188
On demand 560,455 4,053
6,548,781 4,076,241

I4.1 Term deposit with banks include AED 2,376 million (20/7: AED 580 million) under collateralized commodity
murabaha arrangement, against which the Group has pledged sukuk amounting to AED 3,231 million (20/7: AED 80/
miflion}{refer note 8.2). The deposit bears profit rate in between 3 months LIBOR + ¢.45% to 6 months LIBOR + 1.15% and
is bound to mature in between 2019 and 2023. Term deposils also includes a murabaha facility of AED 973 million (2017:
AED 973 million) carrying a profit rate of 3 months LIBOR + 1.65% per annum and maturing in May 2019.
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15. Sukuk payable

Name of issuer Maturity date 2018 2017
Carrying  Profit rate Carrying Profit
value value rate
SIB Sukuk Company III Limited 15 April 2018 - - 1,835,962  2.950%
SIB Sukuk 2020 17 March 2020 1,835,272 2.843% 1,834,268  2.843%
S1B Sukuk 2021 8 September 2021 1,832,861 3.084% 1,831,513 3.084%
SIB Sukuk 2023 17 April 2023 1,831,470 4.231% - -

Total 5,499,603 5,501,743

The Bank through a Shari'a compliant medium term financing arrangement raised a US$ denominated sukuk amounting to
AED 1.83 billion {US$ 500 million} on 18 April 2018. The sukuk is listed on the Irish Stock Exchange and NASDAQ Dubai.

The terms of the arrangement include a transfer of certain [jarah receivables and Shari’a compliant investment securities of
the Bank (the “Co-owned assets™) to SIB Sukuk Company III Limited {the “Issuers”), a special purpose vehicle formed for
issuance of the sukuk. In substance, the co-owned assets remain in control of the Bank, accordingly these assets continue to
be recognised in the Group’s consolidated financial statements. In case of any default, the Bank has provided an undertaking
to settle all losses borne by the sukuk holders,

The issuers will pay the semi-annua! distribution amount from the returns received in respect of the leased assets. Such
returns are expected o be sufficient to cover the semi-annual distribution amount payable to the sukuk holders on each semi-
annual distribution date. Upon maturity, the Bank has undertaken to repurchase the assets at the excrcise price of AED 1.83

billion (US$ 500 million), .
16. Other liabilities
Note 2018 2017
Profit payable 255,129 157,412
Accrual and provision 28,538 16,379
Accounts payable 77,501 92,613
Provision for staff end of service benefits 67,760 62,211
Profit reserve 11,128 16,811
Managers’ cheques 48,697 65,084
Obligations under acceptances 97,926 155,297
Sundry creditors 222,928 243,031
809,607 808,838

17. Share capital

The Bank's issued and fully paid up share capital comprises 2.934.853,000 (2017: 2,934,853,000) shares of AED 1 each.

Balance at the beginning of the year 2,934,855 2,425,500
Issuance of bonus shares - 242 550
Conversion of sukuk 17.1 - 266,805
Balance at the end of the year 2,934,855 2,934,855

17.1 During the last quarter of 2017, the Bank issued a perpetual Sukuk convertible into ordinary shares of the Bank
equivalent of 10% of share capital. The perpetual Sukuk was issued for an amount of AED 266,305,000, equivalent to 10%
of the share capital of the Bank as at the date of issuance with an option to convert to ordinary shares of the Bank at par value
of AED 1 per share. The perpetual Sukuk was fully subscribed by the Sharjah Social Security Fund (Investor}, an endowment
fund established by an Emiri Decree No. 66 of 2018, issued by H.H. The Ruler of Sharjah. The Sukuk offered a profit of 2%
per annum, payable to the Investor semi-annually or upon termination of the Sukuk. The Investor exercised the option to
convert the Sukuk into Ordinary Shares of the Bank. Subsequent to conversion, the Sukuk was terminated and all profits due
to the Investor were paid out.
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18. Dividends

During the annual general meeting of the shareholders held on 10 February 2018, a cash dividend of 8% of the paid up
capital amounting to AED 234.8 million was approved for the year ended 31 December 2017 (2017: 10% stock dividend in
the ratio of one bonus share for every 10 shares held, amounting to AED 242.6 million for the year ended 31 December
2016).

19. Proposed directors’ remuneration

In accordance with the Article 169 of Commercial Companies Law No. 2 of 2015, the proposed direclors’ remuneration is
AED 5.3 million (2017: AED 5.3 million).

20. Reserves

In accordance with the Bank's Articles of Association and Decretal Federal Law No. (14) of 2018, the Bank transfers 10%
of annual profits, if any, to the legal reserve until it is equal to 50% of the share capital. Also, in accordance with the
Bank’s Articles of Association, 10% of annual profits, if any, were transferred to a statutory reserve until 2005, subsequent
to which it was suspended by an ordinary general meeting upon a proposal by the Board of directors. The statutory reserve
can be utilised for the purposes determined by the ordinary general meeting upon recommendations of the Board of
Directors.

Further, in accordance with Guidance note to Banks and Financial Institutions on JFRS 9 Implementation, as issued by the
CBUAE in March 2018, the Bank has computed a general provision as 1.5% of credit risk weighted assets as at 31
December 2018. The resultant difference between 1.5% of credit risk weighted assets and stage 1 & 2 combined ECL is
transferred from retained earnings to a non-distributable general impairment reserve. Had general impairment reserve been
recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss for the year ended 31 December 2018, profit for the year would
have decreased by AED 66.7 million.

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in fair values of financial assets through other comprehensive
income.

The movements in reserves are as follows:

General Fair

Legal Statutory  impairment value

reserve reserve reserve  reserve

Balance at 1 January 2018 1,377,902 89,008 - (39.488)

Transfer to reserve 51,362 - 66,717 183

Change in fair value of financial assets - - (48,232)

Balance at 31 December 2018 1,429,264 89,008 66,717 (87,537
21. Income from investment Islamic financing 2018 2017

Income from murabaha and wakala with financial institutions 112,109 58,705

Income from murabaha financing 342,343 293,748

Income from syndicate products 45,008 27,118

Income from ijara financing 752,548 694,465

Income from other Islamic financing products 71,176 36,971

1,323,184 1,111,007

E:’
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22, Investment, fees, commission and other income- net

2018 2017
Profit income on sukuk 266,413 212,292
Other investment income 4,654 12,177
Net fees and commissions 198,511 200,955
Net rental income 31,519 29,649
Net gains from dealing in foreign currencies 25,632 25,842
Net income from sale of properties held-for-sale 5,579 23,450
Net income from sale of investment properties 21,552 -
Net revaluation (loss) / gains on investment properties (10,196) 6,284
Revaluation loss on properties held for sale (11,901) (2,124)
Other operating income 2,296 2,206
534,059 510,731

23. General and administrative expenses
Staff costs (419,458) {387,040)
Other pgeneral and administrative expenses (158,759) {122,075)
Depreciation (36,029) (41,630}

(614,246) (550,745)

24. Provision - net of recoveries

a) Provision on investment in Islamic financing
Provision made during the year (87,654) (253,847)
Recoveries during the year 41,680 99,475
(45,974) (154,372)

b) Other provision

Net ECL on other financial assets (572) -
Recoveries — subsidiaries receivables 8,403 4,926
7,831 4,926
c) Other recoveries during the year 1,374 629
Total provision - net of recoveries (36,769) (148,817}

25, Distribution to depositors

The distribution of profit between depositor and shareholders is made in accordance with the methods approved by the
Bank’s Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory Board effective from | July 2002. The Bank has adopted the “Commeon Pool Method™
for distribution of profit between depositors and shareholders. The application of the above method resulted in:

Approptiation to depositors 546,222 304,999
Other adjustments (5,683) 2,325
540,539 307,324
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26. Basic and diluted earnings per share
The calculation of earnings per share is based on earmnings of AED 510.4 million (2017: AED 477.7 million) for the year

divided by the weighted average number of shares for the year. There is no dilution impact on basic earnings per share.

27. Cash and cash equivalents

2018 2017

Cash and cash equivalents comprise of:
Cash and balances with banks and financial institutions 2,440,868 3,103,111
Murabaha and wakala arrangements with financial institutions 7,217,226 3,925,490
Less: Due to banks (6,548,781) (4,076,241)
3,109,313 2,952,360
Less: cash reserves with CBUAE (1,689,711) (1,727,918)
Less: due from banks with original maturity of more than 3 months (2,841,994) (606,045)
Add: due to banks with original maturity of more than 3 months 4,515,680 1,556,477
Cash and cash equivalents 3,093,288 2,174,874

27.1 Cash reserves with CBUAE are non-profit bearing and not available to fund day-to-day operations of the Bank.
28. Key accounting estimates, and judgments in applying accounting policies

The Group makes estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year and the resultant provisions and fair value. Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical
experience and other factors, including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the
circumstances.

In particular, considerable judgment is required by management in respect of the following:
Impairment losses on investment in Islamic financing, sukuk investments and other assets

The Group reviews its portfolios of investment in Islamic financing and other assets to assess impairment at least on a
quarterly basis. In determining whether an impairment loss should be recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss, the Group makes judgments as to whether there is an observable data indicating that there is a measurable decrease in
the estimated future cash flows from a portfolio within investment in Islamic financing and other assets before the decrease
can be identified with an individual receivable in that portfolio.

A number of significant judgments are also required in applying the accounting requirements for measuring impairment of
Investment in Islamic Financing and other assets, such as:

e  Determining the criteria for significant increase in credit risk;

e  Choosing appropriate models and assumptions for the measurement of expected credit loss (ECL).

e  Establishing the number and relative weightings of forward-looking scenarios for each type of product/market and
the associated ECL; and

e  Establishing groups of similar financial assets for the purposes of measuring ECL.

This evidence may include observable data indicating that there has been an adverse change in the payment status of
customers in a group, or national or local economic conditions that cotrelate with defaults on assets in the Group. For detailed
expected credit loss {ECL) observable and unobservable inputs, refer note 3 {vi) and note 4a.

Impairment losses on investment securities

The Bank evaluates its investments securities individually for impairment based upon management’s best estimate of the
present value of the cash flows that are expected to be received. In estimating these cash flows, management makes judgments
about a counterparty’s financial situation. Judgment is also exercised while reviewing factors indicating and determining the
objective evidence of impairment in respect of investment securities.

)/%
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28. Key accounting estimates, and judgments in applying accounting policies (continued)
Valuation of financial instruments

The Group measures fair values using the following fair value hierarchy, which reflects the significance of the inputs used
in making the measurements.

Level 1; inpuls (hat are quoted market prices (unadjusted) in aclive markets for identical instruments.

Level 2: inputs other than quoted prices included within Levet 1 that are observable either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly
(i.e. derived from prices). This category includes instruments valued using: quoted market prices in active markets for similar
instruments; quoted prices for identical or similar instruments in markets that are considered less than active; or other
valuation techniques in which all significant inputs are directly or indirectly observable from market data.

Level 3: inputs that are unobservable. This category includes all instruments for which the valuation technique includes
inputs not based on observable data and the unobservable inpuls have a significant effect on the instrument’s valuation. This
category includes instruments that are valued based on quoted prices for similar instruments for which significant
unobservable adjustments or assumptions are required to reflect differences between the instruments

The Group recognises transfers between levels of the fair value hierarchy at the end of the reporting period during which the
change has occurred.

Valuation techniques include net present value and discounted cash flow models, comparison to similar instruments for
which market observable prices exisi, and other valuation models. Assumptions and inputs used in valuation techniques
include risk-free and benchmark profit rates, credit spreads in estimating discount rates, bond and equity prices, foreign
currency exchange rates, equity and equity index prices and expected price volatilities and correlations. The objective of
valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received to sell the asset or
paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The objective of valuation techniques is to arrive at a fair value measurement that reflects the price that would be received
to sell the asset or paid to transfer the liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date.

The Group has an established control framework with respect to the measurement of fair values. This framework includes a
valuation function, which is independent of front office management and reports to the Investment Committee, and which
has overall responsibility for independently verifying the results of trading and investment operations and all significant fair
value measurements.

Specific controls include:

verification of observable pricing;

re-performance of model valuations ;

a review and approval process for new models and changes 1o models involving valuation function;
calibration and back-testing of models against observed market transactions at regular intervals;

e analysis and investigation of significant valuation movements; and

* review of significant unobservable inputs, valuation adjustments and significant changes to the fair value
measurement of Level 3 instruments compared with the previous month, by Investment Committee.

Significant valuation issues are reported to the Investment Committee.
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28. Key accounting estimates, and judgments in applying accounting policies {(continued)

Valuation of financial instruments {continued)

The table below analyses financial and non-financial assets measured at fair value at the end of the reporting period, by the
level in the fair value hierarchy into which the fair value measurement is categorised:

31 December 2018

Financial assets

Investment securities - FVTPL
Investment securities — FVTQCI
Total

Non-financial assets
Investment properties

31 December 2017

Financial assets

Investment securities - FVTPL
Investment securities — FVTOCI
Total

Non-financial assets
Investment properties

Note

9

Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
5,563 - 36,814 42,377
2,122,718 - 231,658 2,354,376
2,128,281 - 268,472 2,396,753
- - 2,318,129 2318,129
67,704 - 36,730 104,434
909,777 - 157,112 1,066,889
977,481 - 193,842 1,171,323
- - 2,167,763 2,167,763

During the year 2018 (20/7: nil), there were no transfers of any financial asset in between any of the levels in fair value

hierarchy.

The following table shows a reconciliation from the opening balances to the closing balances for fair value measurements in

Level 3 of the hierarchy for investment securities:

Financial assets

Balance as at 1 January
Revaluation gain / (loss)
Additions

Asat 31 December

Non-financial assets

Balance at the beginning of the year
Additions

Transfer from held-for-sale
Disposal

Revaluation (loss) / gain

Transfer to property and equipment
Balance at the end of the year

A

2018 2018 2017 2017
FVTPL FVOCI FVTPL FVOCI
36,730 157,112 - 100,234
84 1,086 - (9,236)

- 73,460 36,730 66,114
36,814 231,658 36,730 157,112
2018 2017

2,167,763 2,124,359

248,046 32,850

- 77,372

(87,484) (56,406)

(10,196) 6,284

- {16,696)

2,318,129 2,167,763
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28. Key accounting estimates, and judgments in applying accounting policies (continued)

Unobservable inputs used in measuring fair value

The investment department constantly monitors the progress of its investments by conducting its own valuation assessment
along with information provided by the fund manager. Depending on the nature of the underlying asset, quantitative methods

are used such as residual value, DCF/scenario analysis or comparable market valuation. Qualitative methods which involve
taking into consideration the market & economic outlook are also employed.

The effect of unobservable input on fair value measurement

Although the Group believes that its estimates of fair value are appropriate, the use of different methodologies or assumptions
could lead to different measurements of fair value. For fair value measurements in Level 3, changing one or more of the
assumptions by 10% would have the following effects.

Effect on profit or loss Effect om OCI
31 December 2018 Favorable Unfavorable Favorable Unfavorable
235,494 (235,494) 23,166 (23,166)
Effect on profit and loss Effect on OCI
31 December 2017 Favorable Unfavorable Favorable Unfavorable
220,449 (220,449) 15,711 (15,711)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value

The following table sets out the fair values of financial instruments not measured at fair value (amortised cost) and analyses
them by the level in the fair value hierarchy into which each fair value measurement is calegorised. Fair value hierarchy of
financial instruments measured at fair value is as disclosed earlier in note 28.

Total
Total fair carrying
31 December 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 value amount

Financial assets
Cash and balances with banks and

financial institutions - 2,440,868 - 2,440,868 2,440,868
Murabaha and wakalah with financial

institutions - 7,217,226 - 7,217,226 7,217,226
Investment in [slamic financing - - 24,123,760 24,123,760 24,123,760
Investment securities measured at

amortised cost 3,248,905 - 826,169 4,075,074 3,823,699
Other assets - - 706,670 706,670 706,670
Total 3,248,905 9,658,094 25,656,599 38,563,598 38,312,223

Financial liabilities

Customers' deposits - 26,438,275 26,438,275 26,438,275
Due to banks - 6,548,781 - 6,548,781 6,548,781
Sukuks payable 5,499,603 - - 5,499,603 5,499,603
Other liabilities - - 741,847 741,847 741,847
Total 5,499,603 6,548,781 27,180,122 39,228,506 39,228,506
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28. Key accounting estimates, and judgments in applying accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)

Total fair Total
value carrying
31 December 2017 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 amount
Financial assets
Cash and balances with banks and
financial institutions - 3,103,111 - 3,103,111 3,103,111
Murabaha and wakalah with financial
institutions - 3,925,490 - 3,925,490 3,925,490
Investment in Islamic financing - - 21,707,375 21,707,375 21,707,375
Investment securities measured at
amortised cost 3,470,268 - 587,836 4,058,104 3,862,814
Other assets - - 569,133 569,133 569,133
Total 3,470,268 7,028,601 22,864,344 33,363,213 33,167,923
Financial liabilities
Customers' deposits - 22,318,523 22,318,523 22,318,523
Due to banks - 4,076,241 - 4,076,241 4,076,241
Sukuk payable 5,501,743 - - 5,501,743 5,501,743
Other liabilitics - - 746,624 746,624 746,624
Total 5,501,743 4,076,241 23,065,147 32,643,131 32,643,131

Valuation of investment properties
The fair value of investment properties were determined by external, independent property valuers, having appropriate

recognised professional qualifications and recent experience in the location and category of the property being valued. The
independent valuers provide the fair value of the Group’s investment property portfolio annually.

Valuation technigue and significant unobservable inputs

The following table shows the valuation technique used in measuring the fair value of investment properties, as well as the
significant unobservable inputs used.

The Group has taken the highest and best use fair values for the fair value measurement of its investment properties.
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28. Key accounting estimates, and judgments in applying accounting policies (continued)

Financial instruments not measured at fair value (continued)

Valuation Significant unobservable inputs
technique

Interrelationship between key unobservable inputs
and fair value measurements

Investment method  Expected market rental growth rate
Risk adjusted discount rates
Free hold property
Free of covenants, third party rights and obligations
Statutory and legal validity

Condition of the property

Comparison The Comparison approach involves examining and

method analysing recent market transaction/data and making
adjustments to this data to account for differences in
location, building area, quality of accommodation,
finish, date of sale, view, aspect and other individual
characteristics

29. Segment reporting
The Bank’s activities comprise the following main business segments:

a. Government and corporate

The estimated fair value increase / decrease if:

Expected market rental growth rate were higher or lower
The risk adjusted discount rates were lower / higher

The property is not free hold

The property is subject to any covenants, rights and
obligations

The property is subject to any adverse legal notices /
judgment

The property is subject to any defect / damages

The estimated fair value increase/decrease if the inputs to
the comparison method varies.

Within this business segment the Bank provides companies, inslitutions and government departments with a range of lslamic
financial products and services. This includes exposure to high net worth individuals,

b. Retail

The retail segment provides a wide range of Islamic financial services to individuals.

¢. Investment and treasury

This segment mainly includes wakalah deals with other financial institutions, investments securities, investment properties,

properties held for sale, sukuks issued and other money market activities.

d. Hospitality and brokerage

The Bank through its subsidiaries SNH and SIFS provides hospilality and brokerage services respectively.
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29. Segment reporting (continued)

Corporate Investment Hospitality
and and and

For the year ended 31 December 2018: government Retail treasury brokerage Total
Consolidated statement of income:
Income from [slamic financing 841,075 285,288 196,821 - 1,323,184
Profit expense on sukuk - - (183,539 - (183,539)
Investments, fees, commission and other income 128,622 64,671 340,766 - 534,059
Incorne from subsidiaries - - - 28,229 28,229
Total income 969,697 349,959 354,048 28,229 1,701,933
General and administrative expenses - - - (31,441) (31,441)
General and administrative expenses - unallocated - - - - (582,805)
Net operating income / (loss) 969,697 349,959 354,048 {3,212) 1,087,687
Provisions- net of recoveries (51,329) 9,959 {3,802) 8,403 (36,769)
Profit before distribution to depositors 918,368 359,918 350,246 5,191 1,050,918
Distribution to depositors (376,250) (44,701)  (119,588) - (540,539
Profit for the year 542,118 315,217 230,658 5,191 510,379
As at 31 December 2018:
Consolidated statement of financial position:
Assets
Segment assets 20,268,758 4,415,718 19,526,966 28,404 44,239,846
Unallocated assets - - - - 505,641
Total assets 20,268,758 4,415,718 19,526,966 28,404 44,745,487
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 21,398,300 4,751,121 12,851,609 8,763 39,009,793
Unallocated liabilities - - - - 348,062
Total liabilities 21,398,300 4,751,121 12,851,609 8,763 39,357,855

Corporate Investment Hospitality

and and and

For the year ended 31 December 2017: government Retail treasury brokerage Total
Consolidated statement of income:
[ncome from Islamic financing 848,315 202,918 59,774 - 1,111,007
Profit expense on sukuks - - (167,763) - (167,763)
Investments, fees, commission and other income 101,489 110,851 298,391 - 510,731
Income for subsidiaries - - - 30,585 30,585
Total income 949,804 313,769 190,402 30,585 1,484,560
General and administrative expenses - - - (30,600) (30,600)
General and administrative expenses - unallocated - - - - (520,145)
Net operating income 949,804 313,769 190,402 (15) 933,815
Provisions- net of recoveries (117,173) (36,570) - 4,926 (148,817)
Profit before distribution to depositors 832,631 277,199 190,402 4,011 784,998
Distribution to depositors (221,172) (37.,485) (48,667) - (307,324)
Profit for the year 611,459 239,714 141,735 4,911 477,674
As at 31 December 2017:
Consolidated statement of financial position:
Assets
Segment assets 19,410,159 2,919,607 15,499,228 29,517 37,858,511
Unallocated assets - - - - 430,008
Total assets 19,410,159 2,919,607 15,499,228 29,517 38,288,519
Liabilities
Segment liabilities 17,895,706 4,719,652 0,719,590 14,985 32,349,933
Unallocated liabilities - - - - 419,306

17,895,706 4,719,652 9,719,590 14,985 32,769,239
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30. Contingencies and commitments

The Bank provides financial guarantees and letter of credit to meet the requirements of the Bank’s customers. These
agreements have fixed limits and expirations and are not concentrated in any period.

The amounts reflected for puarantees represent the maximum accounting loss that would be recognised at the reporting date
if counterparties failed completely to perform as contracted.

These contingent liabilities have off balance-sheet credit risk as only the related fees and accruals for probable losses are
recognised in the statement of financial position until the commitments are fulfilled or expire. Many of the contingent
liahilities will expire without being advanced in whole or in part. Therefore, the amounts do not represent expected future
cash flows.

2018 2017
a) Letter of credit - by sector:
Corporate 129,188 220,964
Govemment 17,652 2,787
146,840 223,751
b)Letter of guarantee — by sector:
Banks 4,148 1,545
Corporate 1,777,787 1,818,660
Governmenl 8,916 93
High net worth individual 28,493 23,586
Retail 15,923 10,013
Non-banking financial institution 133,523 132,872
1,968,790 1,986,769
¢) Capital commitments
Property and equipment 48,701 9,015
Other real estate commitments 264,643 159,936
313,344 168,951

Others

The Bank has also issued a financial guarantee of AED 5 million (2047 AED 5 million) \o the Department of Economic
Development against a real estate leasing and management license for ASAS real estate.

In addition, a financial guarantee of AED 230 million which comprises of AED 100 million has been issued to Abu Dhabi
securities exchange, AED 100 million to Dubai Financial Market and AED 30 million to the Central Bank of UAE against
conducting brokerage operations for Sharjah Islamic Financial Services (2017: AED 230 million).

The Bank receives legal claims arising in the normal course of business. The Bank considers none of these matters as material
either individually or in aggregate. Where appropriate, the Bank recognises a provision for liabilities when it is probable that
an outflow of economic resources embodying economic benefits will be required and for which a reliable estimate can be
made of the obligation. The Bank seeks to comply with all applicable laws and regulations, but may be subject to regulatory
actions and investigations from time to time, the outcome of which are generally difficult to predict and can be material.

ﬁ

Page 66 of 68



- 1
- ———— ________________________________________ ]

a1 Related parties

(Currency: Thousands of U.A.E. Dirham)

In the normal course of business, the Group enters into various transactions with enterprises and key management personnel
which falls within the definition of related parties as defined in IAS 24. Key management personnel are those persons having
authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling the activities of the Group, directly or indirecily, including
any director, executive or otherwise, of the Group. The related party transactions are executed at the terms agreed between
the parties, which in the opinion of the management are not significantly different from those that could have been obtained

from third parties.

At the reporting date, such significant balances include:

Statement of financial position

Investment in Islamic financing
Customers deposits
Contingent liabilities — off balance sheet

Statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2018

Income from Islamic financing

Deposilors’ share of profit

Statement of financial position

Investment in Islamic financing
Customers deposits
Contingent liabilities — off balance sheet

Statement of profit or loss
For the year ended 31 December 2017

Income from Islamic financing

Depositors’ share of profit

2018
Key Other
management Major related
personnel  shareholders parties Total
775,502 3,336,088 3,539,686 7,651,276
(174,716) (665,593)  (2,918,134) (3,758,443)
114,650 29,541 - 144,191
18,432 151,011 131,637 301,080
(494) (6,703} (26,495) (33,692)
2017
Key Other
management Major related
personnel  shareholders parties Total
630,914 4,288,504 3,422,199 8,341,617
(38,911) (195,830) (3,664,669) (3,899,410)
120,073 3,012 - 123,085
26,406 127,490 98,655 252,551
(286) (2,512) (10,594) (13,392)

Key management compensation includes salaries and other short term benefits of AED 25.3 million in 2018 (2017: AED
23.5 million) and post-employment benefits of AED 2.8 million in 2018 (20/7: AED 1.6 million).
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32, Social contributions

The Bank has made social contributions of AED 60.9 million (20/7: AED 54.5 million) from the zakat fund. Zakat fund is
calculated in accordance with note 3(n).

The Bank during the year has also made a social contribution of AED 3.1 million (20/7: AED 2.8 million) as donations and
charities. These donations and charities are the amounts collected from the customers of the Bank as approved and defined

by Bank’s Fatwa and Shari’a Supervisory Board,

3. Comparatives figures

Certain prior year comparatives have been reclassified in order to conform to current year’s presentation.
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